TOHOKU MATHEMATICAL PUBLICATIONS

Number 36

On the Hasse principle for the Brauer group of a purely transcendental extension field in one variable over an arbitrary field

by

Makoto SAKAGAITO

May 2012

©Tohoku University Sendai 980-8578, Japan

Editorial Board

Shigeki Aida	Shigetoshi Bando	Masaki HANAMURA
Nobuhiro Honda	Masanori Ishida	Kazuhiro ISHIGE
Shigeaki Koike	Motoko Kotani	Reiko Miyaoka
Takayoshi OGAWA	Takashi Shioya	Izumi Takagi
Masayoshi Takeda	Kazuyuki TANAKA	Nobuo Tsuzuki
Takao Yamazaki		

This series aims to publish material related to the activities of the Mathematical Institute of Tohoku University. This may include:

- 1. Theses submitted to the Institute by grantees of the degree of Doctor of Science.
- 2. Proceedings of symposia as well as lecture notes of the Institute.

A primary advantage of the series lies in quick and timely publication. Consequently, some of the material published here may very likely appear elsewhere in final form.

Tohoku Mathematical Publications

Mathematical Institute Tohoku University Sendai 980-8578, Japan

TOHOKU MATHEMATICAL PUBLICATIONS

Number 36

On the Hasse principle for the Brauer group of a purely transcendental extension field in one variable over an arbitrary field

by

Makoto SAKAGAITO

May 2012

©Tohoku University Sendai 980-8578, Japan

On the Hasse principle for the Brauer group of a purely transcendental extension field in one variable over an arbitrary field

A thesis presented

by

Makoto Sakagaito

to

The Mathematical Institute for the degree of Doctor of Science

> Tohoku University Sendai, Japan

> > March 2012

Acknowledgements

The author would like to express deep gratitude to Professors Nobuo Tsuzuki and Akihiko Yukie. Without their instructive advice and constant encouragement, this thesis would never have been completed. He also would like to thank Professor Takao Yamazaki for valuable comments.

Abstract

Harder proved that the Hasse principle for the Brauer group of a purely transcendental extension field in one variable over an arbitrary field. In this thesis we prove this result by an alternative method. At first we characterize the edge map of the Grothendieck spectral sequence and then prove that a certain sequence is exact. Harder's result is proved by using this exact sequence. As another application of the exact sequence, we prove the Hasse principle for the Brauer group of any algebraic function field in one variable over a separably closed field.

Contents

1	Introduction	7
2	2 Notation	
3	Galois cohomology	
	3.1 The definition of Galois cohomology	10
	3.1.1 Cohomology of finite groups	11
	3.1.2 Cohomology of profinite groups	12
	3.2 Functoriality	13
	3.3 The cohomological dimension	14
	3.4 The Brauer group of a field	14
4	Étale cohomology	16
	4.1 Étale morphisms	17
	4.2 Henselian rings	18
	4.3 Cohomology	19
	4.4 The definition of Čech cohomology	20
	4.5 The relation between Galois cohomology and étale cohomology	21
	4.6 Cohomology with support	22
	4.7 Spectral sequences of étale cohomology	23
	4.8 The definition of Azumaya algebra	23
5	Hasse principle	28
	5.1 Classical results and Conjectures	28
	5.2 A counterexample for the Hasse principle	29
6	6 The edge maps of the Grothendieck spectral sequence	
7	The proof of the main result	47

1 Introduction

For a field k, let k_s be the separable closure of k and \overline{k} the algebraic closure of k. Let K be a global field (i.e., an algebraic number field or an algebraic function field of transcendental degree one over a finite field), S the set of all primes of K and $\widehat{K}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ the completion of K at $\mathfrak{p} \in S$. For a ring A, let $\operatorname{Br}(A)$ be the Brauer group of A (see [Me, p.141, IV, §2]). The Brauer groups play an important role to define the reciprocity map of the class field theory.

It is known that the local-global map

$$\operatorname{Br}(K) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in S} \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{K}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

is injective (see [K-K-S, Theorem 8.42 (2)]). We call a statement of this form the Hasse principle. In terms of central simple algebras, the Hasse principle is expressed as follows.

Let A be a central simple algebra over K. Then

$$A \simeq M_n(K)$$

if and only if

$$A \otimes_K \widehat{K}_{\mathfrak{p}} \simeq M_n(\widehat{K}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

for all $\mathfrak{p} \in S$. Moreover, suppose that $K = \mathbb{Q}$ and A is a quaternion algebra. Then the above equivalence means that for $a, b \in K^*$, there exist $x, y \in K$ such that

$$ax^2 + by^2 = 1$$

if and only if there exist $x_{\mathfrak{p}}, y_{\mathfrak{p}} \in \widehat{K}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ such that

$$ax_{\mathfrak{p}}^2 + by_{\mathfrak{p}}^2 = 1$$

for all $\mathfrak{p} \in S$. Moreover, let $(,)_{\mathfrak{p}} : \mathbb{Q}_{\mathfrak{p}} \times \mathbb{Q}_{\mathfrak{p}} \to \{\pm 1\}$ be the Hilbert symbol. Then (1.1) is equivalent to

$$(a,b)_{\mathfrak{p}} = 1.$$

For a group G, let X(G) be the group of characters of G. Then the local-global map for the group of characters of $G(K_s/K)$

$$\mathcal{X}(G(K_s/K)) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in S} \mathcal{X}(G((\widehat{K}_{\mathfrak{p}})_s/\widehat{K}_{\mathfrak{p}}))$$

is also injective. On the other hand, suppose that m is a positive integer which is prime to the characteristic of k. Then

$$X(G(k_s/k))_m = H^1(k, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}), \quad Br(k)_m = H^2(k, \mu_m)$$

where μ_m is the group of *m*-th roots of unity. So we consider the following conjecture. **Conjecture 5.4.** Let *k* be a finitely generated field over a prime field, *m* an odd prime with (m, ch(k)) = 1, *p* any positive integer and *X* a normal complete curve over *k*. Let R(X) be the function field of X, $\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ the local ring at \mathfrak{p} of X, $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ the Henselization of $\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ and $\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ its quotient field. Then the local-global map

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(R(X),\mu_{m}) \to \prod_{\substack{\mathfrak{p} \in X \\ \dim(\bar{\mathfrak{p}})=0}} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}},\mu_{m})$$

is injective.

We claim that this conjecture is true if k is an algebraic number field and p = 1 (in preparation). On the other hand, Harder proved that the local-global map of the Brauer group is injective in the case where k is arbitrary field and $X = \mathbb{P}_k^1$ as follows.

Theorem 7.27.[Ha] For an arbitrary field k, let k(t) be the purely transcendental extension field in one variable t over k. Then, the local-global map

$$\operatorname{Br}(k(t)) \to \prod_{\substack{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbf{P}_k^1\\ \operatorname{ht}(\mathfrak{p})=1}} \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{k(t)}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

is injective.

In this thesis, we prove Theorem 7.27 by an alternative method. In Section 6, we characterize the edge maps of the Grothendieck spectral sequence.

Suppose that $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}$ are abelian categories which have enough injective objects. Let $G : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}, F : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ be left exact functors such that G takes injective objects of \mathcal{C} to F-acyclic objects. Then the Grothendieck spectral sequence is

$$(R^{p}G)(R^{q}F)(A) \Rightarrow R^{n}(GF)(A)$$

and we show that the edge maps $r_{F,G}^p$ and $l_{F,G}^p$ of the Grothendieck spectral sequence satisfy the following properties.

Property 6.2. The functor $r^p_{F,G}(A)$: $R^pF(G(A)) \to R^pFG(A)$ is characterized by the following properties.

- (1) If p = 0, $r_{F,G}^0(A) = \mathrm{id}_{FG(A)}$.
- (2) Suppose that p > 0 and assume that $r_{F,G}^i$ is defined for $i \leq p 1$. Let $0 \to A \to I \to M \to 0$ be an exact sequence and I an injective object. Then the following diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{p-1}F(G(I)/G(A)) \longrightarrow R^{p-1}F(G(M)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,G}^{p-1}(M)} R^{p-1}(FG)(M) \\ & \downarrow^{\delta_1^{p-1}} \downarrow & \downarrow^{\delta_2^{p-1}} \\ R^pF(G(A)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,G}^p(A)} R^p(FG)(A) \end{array}$$

is commutative where $\delta_1^{p-1}, \delta_2^{p-1}$ are the connecting homomorphisms.

Property 6.23. The functor $l_{F,G}^p(A)$: $R^p(FG)(A) \to F(R^pG(A))$ is characterized by the following properties.

- (1) $l_{F,G}^0(A) = \mathrm{id}_{FG(A)}$.
- (2) If $0 \to A \to B \to C \to 0$ is an exact sequence, then $l^p_{F,G}$ satisfies the following commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{p}(FG)(C) \xrightarrow{\delta} R^{p+1}(FG)(A) \\ \downarrow_{F,G}^{l^{p}(C)} \downarrow & \downarrow_{F,G}^{l^{p+1}(A)} \\ F(R^{p}G(C)) \xrightarrow{F(\delta)} F(R^{p+1}(G)(A)) \end{array}$$

where δ is the connecting homomorphism.

Moreover, we can determine the form of the edge map of the Grothendieck spectral sequence by the above properties.

In Section 7 we prove several results by using the results which we prove in Section 6. For example, by the above properties, we shall show the following lemma.

Lemma 7.4 Let X be a regular quasi-compact scheme, K = R(X) and g: Spec $K \to X$ the generic point of X. Then

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Res}} \prod_{x \in X_{(0)}} \mathrm{Br}(K_{\bar{x}})\right).$$

Moreover, for a ring A and $x \in \text{Spec}(A)$, let \bar{x} be the geometric point which corresponds to x, $A_{\bar{x}}$ the strict Henselization at \bar{x} (see [Me, p.38, I, §4]) and $K_{\bar{x}}$ the quotient field of $A_{\bar{x}}$. Then we prove the following proposition.

Proposition 7.14. Let A be a ring such that Spec(A) is smooth over a field k (see [Me, pp.30-31, I, §3] for the definition) and K the quotient field of A. Then, the following sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(A) \xrightarrow{(*)} \operatorname{Ker} \left(\operatorname{Br}(K) \xrightarrow[\operatorname{kes}]{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{\substack{x \in \operatorname{Spec}\,(A) \\ \operatorname{ht}(x) = 1}} \operatorname{Br}(K_{\bar{x}}) \right) \xrightarrow{(**)} \prod_{\substack{x \in \operatorname{Spec}\,(A) \\ \operatorname{ht}(x) = 1}} \operatorname{X}(G(\kappa(x)_s / \kappa(x)))$$

where $\kappa(x)_s$ is the separable closure of $\kappa(x)$, Res is the restriction map and homomorphisms (*), (**) are the natural maps, is exact.

More generally, if X is regular quasi-compact scheme, we have the exact sequence as follows.

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(X) \xrightarrow{(*)} \operatorname{Ker} \left(\operatorname{Br}(R(X)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{\substack{x \in X \\ \dim\{x\}=0}} \operatorname{Br}(R(\mathcal{O}_{X,\bar{x}})) \right) \xrightarrow{(**)} \bigoplus_{\substack{x \in X \\ \dim(\mathcal{O}_{X,x})=1}} \operatorname{X}(G_{\kappa(x)}).$$

(see Remark 7.18). We use results in Section 6 to prove that homomorphisms (*), (**) are the natural maps. By using Proposition 7.14, we can prove Theorem 7.27 and the Hasse principle for the Brauer group of any algebraic function fields in one variable over a separably closed field (Corollary 7.23). Moreover we can prove Corollary 4.30 by Remark 7.18.

2 Notation

In this section, we define basic notations used throughout this thesis. More specialized notations will be introduced in each section.

For a field k and a Galois extension field k' of k, G(k'/k) denotes the Galois group of k'/k. We denote $G(k_s/k)$ by G_k and the category of discrete modules on which G_k acts continuously by G_k -mod. We call such modules simply discrete G_k -modules. For a discrete G(k'/k)-module A and a positive integer q, $\mathrm{H}^q(k'/k, A)$ denotes the q-th cohomology group of G(k'/k) with coefficients in A (see [S1, p.10, I, §2]). We put $\mathrm{H}^q(k, A) = \mathrm{H}^q(k_s/k, A)$. Res : $\mathrm{H}^p(k, A) \to \mathrm{H}^p(k', A)$ denotes the restriction homomorphism. For an abelian group G, we put $G_q = \{g \in G \mid g^q = 1\}$.

For a scheme $X, X^{(i)}$ is the set of points of codimension i and $X_{(i)}$ is the set of points of dimension i. We denote the étale site on X by X_{et} and the category of sheaves over X_{et} by $\mathbf{S}_{X_{et}}$. For $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbf{S}_{X_{et}}$, we denote the q-th cohomology group of X_{et} with values in \mathcal{F} by $\mathrm{H}^{q}(X, \mathcal{F})$. For an integral scheme X and $\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}$, let R(X) be the function field of $X, \mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ the local ring at \mathfrak{p} of $X, \widehat{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ the completion of $\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}, \widehat{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ its quotient field , $\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ the Henselization of $\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}, \widehat{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}$ its quotient field , $\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ the strictly Henselization of $\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}$ and $R(X)_{\mathfrak{p}}$ its quotient field. When we consider schemes over a field k, we also use the notation such as $k(X), \widehat{k(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}$, etc. We denote the category of abelian groups by **Ab**.

3 Galois cohomology

3.1 The definition of Galois cohomology

Let \mathbb{A} be an abelian category. An object I of \mathbb{A} is *injective* if the functor

$$M \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{A}}(M, I) : \mathbb{A} \to \operatorname{\mathbf{Ab}}$$

is exact. A has enough injective objects if, for every M in \mathbb{A} , there is a monomorphism from M into an injective object. If \mathbb{A} is an abelian category which has enough injective objects and $f : \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$ is a left exact functor from \mathbb{A} into another abelian category \mathbb{B} , then there is an essentially unique sequence of functors $R^i f : \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$, $i \geq 0$, called the right derived functors of f with the following properties.

- (a) $R^0 f = f$.
- (b) $R^i f(I) = 0$ if I is injective and i > 0.

(c) For any exact sequence

$$0 \to M' \to M \to M'' \to 0$$

in \mathbb{A} , there are morphisms

$$\partial^{i}: R^{i}f(\boldsymbol{M}'') \to R^{i+1}f(\boldsymbol{M}'), \ i \geqq 0,$$

such that the sequence

$$\cdots \to R^i f(M) \to R^i f(M'') \xrightarrow{\partial^i} R^{i+1} f(M') \to R^{i+1} f(M) \to \cdots$$

is exact.

(d) The association in (c) of the long exact sequence to the short exact sequence is functorial.

3.1.1 Cohomology of finite groups

Here we review the standard complex which is used to compute cohomology of finite groups.

Let G be a finite group and A a G-module. Then the functor $A \to A^G$ is left exact. The q-th right derived functor of the functor A^G is denoted by $\mathrm{H}^q(G, A), q \geq 0$. We also denote the q-th right derived functor of the functor Hom_G by Ext_G^q . First note that A^G can be identified with $\mathrm{Hom}_G(\mathbb{Z}, A)$, the group \mathbb{Z} being considered as a G-module with trivial action $(s \cdot n = n \text{ for all } s \in G)$. Hence

$$\mathrm{H}^{q}(G, A) = \mathrm{Ext}^{q}_{G}(\mathbb{Z}, A),$$

since Ext_G^q is the derived functor of the functor Hom_G for all q. To compute $\operatorname{Hom}_G(\mathbb{Z}, A)$, there is a well-known complex called *the standard complex*, which can be described as follows.

Choose a resolution of the G-module \mathbb{Z} by projective G-modules, i.e., an exact sequence

 $\cdots \to P_i \to P_{i-1} \to \cdots \to P_0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to 0$

where P_i is projective for all *i*. Putting $K^i = \text{Hom}_G(P_i, A)$, we see that the K^i form a cochain complex K, and

$$\mathrm{H}^q(G,A) = \mathrm{H}^q(K)$$

which gives a method of computing these groups;

A free resolution of \mathbb{Z} can be obtained by taking P_i to be the free \mathbb{Z} -module L_i having basis which consists of the systems (g_0, \dots, g_i) of i + 1 elements of G, and making G operate on L_i by translations:

$$s \cdot (g_0, \cdots, g_i) = (sg_0, \cdots, sg_i).$$

We define a homomorphism $d: L_i \to L_{i-1}$ by the formula

$$d(g_0, \cdots, g_i) = \sum_{j=1}^{j=i} (-1)^j (g_0, \cdots, \hat{g_j}, \cdots, g_i)$$

where the symbol \hat{g}_i means that g_i does not appear.

An element of $K^i = \text{Hom}(L_i, A)$ can then be identified with a function $f(g_0, \dots, g_i)$ having values in A, and satisfying the covariance condition:

$$f(s \cdot g_0, \cdots, s \cdot g_i) = s \cdot f(g_0, \cdots, g_i)$$

A covariant cochain f is uniquely determined by its restriction to systems of the form $(1, g_1, g_1g_2, \dots, g_1 \dots g_i)$. This leads us to interpret elements of K^i as inhomogeneous cochains, i.e., as functions $f(g_0, \dots, g_i)$ of i arguments, with values in A, whose coboundary is given by:

(3.1)

$$(d f)(g_1, \cdots, g_{i+1}) = g_1 \cdot f(g_2, \cdots, g_{i+1}) \\
= \sum_{j=1}^{j=i} (-1)^j f(g_1, \cdots, g_j g_{j+1}, \cdots, g_{i+1}) \\
+ (-1)^{i+1} f(g_1, \cdots, g_i).$$

Especially, if $G = \{1\}$, $H^p(G, A) = 0$ for p > 0.

3.1.2 Cohomology of profinite groups

Here we define the cohomology of profinite groups. For example, Galois groups for infinite extensions are profinite groups. The definition of a profinite group is the following.

Definition 3.2. A topological group which is the projective limit of finite groups, each given the discrete topology, is called a *profinite group*. If $G = \lim_{\leftarrow} H$ is a profinite group, the quotient of G obtained by taking the inverse limit of the finite groups H which are p-groups is called the pro-p-part of G and is denoted by G(p).

Let G be a profinite group. The discrete abelian groups on which G acts continuously form an abelian category C_G , which is a full subcategory of the category of all G-modules. To say that a G-module A belongs to C_G means that the stabilizer of each element of A is open in G, or, that one has

$$A = \bigcup A^U = \varinjlim A^U$$

where U runs through all open subgroups of G (as usual, A^U denotes the largest subgroup of A fixed by U). An element A of C_G is called a *discrete G-module*.

If $A \in C_G$, define $\mathrm{H}^q(G, A)$ by the formula

$$\mathrm{H}^{q}(G, A) = \lim \mathrm{H}^{q}(G/H, A^{H})$$

where H runs through open normal subgroups of G.

We denote by $C^{n}(G, A)$ the set of all *continuous* maps from G^{n} to A. One defines the coboundary

$$\mathbf{d}^{n+1}: C^n(G, A) \to C^{n+1}(G, A)$$

by (3.1). We now set

$$Z^{n}(G, A) = \operatorname{Ker}(C^{n}(G, A) \xrightarrow{d^{n+1}} C^{n+1}(G, A)),$$
$$B^{n}(G, A) = \operatorname{Im}(C^{n-1}(G, A) \xrightarrow{d^{n}} C^{n}(G, A))$$

and $B^0(G, A) = 0$. The elements of $Z^n(G, A)$ and $B^n(G, A)$ are called the *n*-cocycles and *n*-coboundaries respectively.

Then one obtains a complex $C^*(G, A)$ whose cohomology groups $Z^q(G, A)/B^q(G, A)$ are $\mathrm{H}^q(G, A)$. It is easy to see that $\mathrm{H}^0(G, A) = A^G$ and $\mathrm{H}^1(G, A)$ is the group of classes of *continuous* crossed homomorphisms of G into A.

3.2 Functoriality

In this subsection we describe functors such as the restriction and the inflation regarding the group cohomology.

Let G and G' be two profinite groups, and let $f : G \to G'$ be a homomorphism. Assume $A \in C_G$ and $A' \in C_{G'}$. Let $h : A' \to A$ be a homomorphism which is *compatible* with f (this is a G-homomorphism, if one regards A' as a G-module via f). Such a pair (f, h) defines, by passing to cohomology, the homomorphisms

$$\mathrm{H}^{q}(G', A') \to \mathrm{H}^{q}(G, A), \ q \ge 0.$$

If we apply this consideration where H is a closed subgroup of G, and A = A' is a discrete G-module, we obtain the *restriction* homomorphisms

Res:
$$\mathrm{H}^{q}(G, A) \to \mathrm{H}^{q}(H, A), \ q \geq 0.$$

When H is a normal subgroup of G and A is a discrete G-module, the group A^{H} is a G/H-module and one obtains the *inflation* homomorphisms

Inf:
$$\operatorname{H}^{q}(G/H, A^{H}) \to \operatorname{H}^{q}(G, A) q \geq 0.$$

When H is open in G, with index n, it is possible to define the *Corestriction* homomorphisms

Cor: $\mathrm{H}^{q}(H, A) \to \mathrm{H}^{q}(G, A), \ q \geq 0.$

Then $\operatorname{Cor} \circ \operatorname{Res} = n$.

Proposition 3.3. The groups $H^p(G, A)$ are torsion.

Let H be a closed subgroup of a profinite group G, and let $A \in C_H$. The induced module $A^* = M_G^H(A)$ is defined as the group of continuous maps a^* from G to A such that a $a^*(hx) = h \cdot a^*(x)$ for $h \in H$, $x \in G$. The group G acts on A^* by

$$(ga^*)(x) = a^*(xg).$$

If to each $a^* \in M^H_G(A)$ one associates its value at the point 1, one obtains a homomorphism $M^H_G(A) \to A$ which is compatible with the injection of H into G, hence the homomorphisms

$$\mathrm{H}^{q}(G, M_{G}^{H}(A)) \to \mathrm{H}^{q}(H, A).$$

Proposition 3.4. [W, p.171, Shapiro's Lemma 6.3.2] The homomorphisms

$$\mathrm{H}^{q}(G, M_{G}^{H}(A)) \to \mathrm{H}^{q}(H, A)$$

defined above are isomorphisms.

3.3 The cohomological dimension

Let p be a prime number, and G a profinite group. One calls the p-cohomological dimension of G, and uses the notation $cd_p(G)$ for the lower bound of the integers n which satisfy the following condition:

(*) for every discrete torsion G-module A, and for every q > n, the pprimary component of $\mathrm{H}^{q}(G, A)$ is null.

Proposition 3.5. [S1, p.83, II, §4, Proposition 11] Let k' be an extension of k, of transcendence degree N. If p is a prime, we have

$$\operatorname{cd}_p(G_{k'}) \leq N + \operatorname{cd}_p(G_k).$$

This is an equality when k' is finitely generated over k, $\operatorname{cd}_p(G_k) < \infty$, and p is distinct from the characteristic of k.

Proposition 3.6. [S1, p.85, II, §4, Proposition 12] Let K be a complete field with respect to a discrete valuation with residue field k. For any prime p, we have:

$$\operatorname{cd}_p(G_K) \leq 1 + \operatorname{cd}_p(G_k).$$

This is an equality when $\operatorname{cd}_p(G_k) < \infty$ and p is different from the characteristic of K.

Proposition 3.7. [S1, p.79, II, §3, Proposition 7] If k is a field of characteristic p > 0, we have $\operatorname{cd}_p(G_k) \leq 1$ and $\operatorname{cd}(G_k(p)) \leq 1$.

3.4 The Brauer group of a field

In this subsection we define and discuss properties of the Brauer group.

For a field k, the group $H^2(G(k_s/k), k_s^*)$ is called the *Brauer group* of the field k and is denoted by Br(k). By Proposition 3.3, this is a torsion group. At first, we consider the Brauer group of a Henselian field. The definition of a Henselian ring is the following.

Definition 3.8. Let A be a local ring with maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} and residue field k. Let the homomorphism $A[T] \to k[T]$ be written as $(f \mapsto \overline{f})$. Then a ring A which satisfies the following condition (*) is called a *Henselian* ring.

(*) If f is a monic polynomial with coefficients in A such that \bar{f} factors as $\bar{f} = g_0 h_0$ with g_0 and h_0 monic and coprime, then f itself factors as f = gh with g and h monic and such that $\bar{g} = g_0, \bar{h} = h_0$.

Proposition 3.9. Let A be a Henselian discrete valuation ring, K its quotient field and \widehat{K} its completion. Moreover, let A be an excellent, i.e., K be a Henselian discrete valuation field such that the completion \widehat{K} is separable over K. Then

$$\operatorname{Br}(K) = \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{K}).$$

Proof. Let k be the residue field of A. If (ch(k), l) = 1, then we have the Kummer sequence

$$0 \to \mu_l \to K_s^* \xrightarrow{l} K_s^* \to 0.$$

So

$$Br(K)_l = H^2(K, \mu_l)$$

and

$$\operatorname{Br}(K)_l = \operatorname{Br}(K)_l$$

because $G(K_s/K) \simeq G(\widehat{K}_s/\widehat{K})$. By the exact sequence

$$0 \to K_s^* \xrightarrow{p} K_s^* \to K_s^* / (K_s^*)^p \to 0,$$

we have the exact sequence

$$\{0\} = \mathrm{H}^{1}(K, K_{s}^{*}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(K, K_{s}^{*}/(K_{s}^{*})^{p}) \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(K, K_{s}^{*}) \xrightarrow{p} \mathrm{H}^{2}(K, K_{s}^{*}).$$

 So

$$Br(K)_p = H^1(K, K_s^*/(K_s^*)^p).$$

Therefore it is sufficient to show that $K_s^*/(K_s^*)^p \simeq \widehat{K}_s^*/(\widehat{K}_s^*)^p$. Let \mathfrak{m} be the maximal ideal of A and $U_K^n = 1 + \mathfrak{m}^n$. Then $K^*/U_K^l = \widehat{K}^*/U_{\widehat{K}}^l$ and there exists N such that $U_{\widehat{K}^n} \subset (\widehat{K}^*)^p$ for any $N \leq n$. Therefore $K_s^*/(K_s^*)^p \to \widehat{K}_s^*/(\widehat{K}_s^*)^p$ is surjective. Moreover Henselian discrete valuation ring K is algebraically separably closed in \widehat{K} . Therefore $K_s^*/(K_s^*)^p \to \widehat{K}_s^*/(\widehat{K}_s^*)^p$ is injective. So the statement is holds.

Definition 3.10. Assume p = ch(k) > 0. Let Ω_k^i be the *i*-th exterior product over *k* of the absolute differential module $\Omega_{k/\mathbb{Z}}^1$, and let $\mathrm{H}_p^{i+1}(k)$ be the cokernel of the homomorphism $\mathfrak{p}: \Omega_k^i \to \Omega_k^i / \mathrm{d}(\Omega_k^{i-1})$

$$\mathfrak{p}(x\frac{\mathrm{d}\,y_1}{y_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{\mathrm{d}\,y_i}{y_i})=(x^p-x)\frac{\mathrm{d}\,y_1}{y_1}\wedge\cdots\wedge\frac{\mathrm{d}\,y_i}{y_i}\,\operatorname{\mathbf{mod}}\operatorname{d}(\Omega_k^{i-1})$$

 $(x \in k, y_1, \cdots y_i \in k^*)$

Proposition 3.11. [K-K, proof of Theorem 1] Let A be an excellent Henselian discrete valuation ring, K the quotient field and \hat{K} its completion. Then the natural homomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^q_p(K) \to \mathrm{H}^q_p(\hat{K})$$

is isomorphism.

Definition 3.12. Let k be a field with ch(k) = p > 0. Let $q \ge 0$ and $n \ge 0$. We define the group $P_n^q(k)$ by

$$P_n^q(k) = (W_n(k)) \otimes \overbrace{k^* \otimes \cdots \otimes k^*}^q / J,$$

where $W_n(k)$ denotes the group of all *p*-Witt vectors of length *n* over *k* and *J* denotes the subgroup of $(W_n(k)) \otimes k^* \otimes \cdots \otimes k^*$ generated by all elements of the following forms (i) (ii) (iii).

(i)
$$(0, \dots, 0, a, 0, \dots, 0) \otimes b_1 \otimes \dots \otimes b_{q-1} \ (0 \leq i < n, a, b_1, \dots, b_{q-1} \in k^*).$$

(ii) $(\mathfrak{F}(\omega) - \omega) \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_q \ (\omega \in W_n(k), b_1, \cdots, b_q \in k^*),$ where \mathfrak{F} denotes the homomorphism $W_n(k) \to W_n(k);$

 $(a_0,\cdots,a_{n-1}) \rightarrow (a_0^p,\cdots,a_{n-1}^p).$

(iii) $\omega \otimes b_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes b_q$ such that $b_i = b_j$ for some $i \neq j$.

Then we have the following fact.

. . .

Proposition 3.13. [K, p.674, §3.4, Lemma 16] Let k be a field with ch(k) = p, and let $n \ge 0$. Then there is a canonical isomorphism

$$P^1_n(k) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(k)_{p^n}; \ \{\chi,a\} \mapsto (\chi,a) \ \ (\chi \in P^0_n(k), a \in k^*),$$

where we identify $P_n^0(k)$ with $(X_k)_{p^n}$ via Witt theory.

An alternative proof of Proposition 3.9. For the proof of Proposition 3.9, it is sufficient to show that $\operatorname{Br}(k)_p \simeq \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{k})_p$. Let F be a field. Then we have an isomorphism $P_1^q(F) \simeq \Omega_F^q/(1-\gamma)\Omega_F^q$ where γ denotes the Cartier operator by [K, Corollary to Lemma 5 in §1.3]. On the other hand, $\Omega_F^1/(1-\gamma)\Omega_F^1 = \operatorname{H}_p^1(F)$ by the definition and $P_1^1(F) \simeq \operatorname{Br}(F)_p$ by Proposition 3.13. So the statement follows from Proposition 3.11.

4 Étale cohomology

We shall be concerned with classes E of morphisms of schemes satisfying the following conditions.

Condition 4.1. 1. all isomorphism are in E,

- 2. the composite of two morphisms in E is in E,
- 3. any base change of a morphism in E is in E.

A morphism in such a class E will be referred to as an E-morphism. Now fix a base scheme X, a class E as above, and a full subcategory \mathbb{C}/X of \mathbf{Sch}/X which is closed under fiber products and for any $Y \to X$ in \mathbb{C}/X and any E-morphism $U \to Y$, the composite $U \to X$ is in \mathbb{C}/X .

An *E*-covering of an object Y of \mathbb{C}/X is a family $(U_i)_{i\in I}$ of *E*-morphisms such that $Y = \bigcup g_i(Y_i)$. The class of all such coverings of all such objects is the *E*-site over X, and will be written $(\mathbb{C}/X)_E$.

Definition 4.2. A presheaf P of abelian groups on a site $(\mathbb{C}/X)_E$ is a contravariant functor $(\mathbb{C}/X)^\circ \to \mathbf{Ab}$.

Thus P associates with each U in \mathbb{C}/X an abelian group P(U), which we shall sometimes write as $\Gamma(U, P)$.

Definition 4.3. *P* is a *sheaf* if the sequences

$$P(U) \to \prod_{i} P(U_i) \stackrel{\neg}{\to} \prod_{i,j} P(U_i \times_U U_j)$$

is exact for all coverings $(U_i \to U)$.

Let P be a presheaf on X_{et} . The stalk $P_{\bar{x}}$ of P at \bar{x} is the abelian group $(u_x^p P)(\bar{x})$. More explicitly,

$$P_{\bar{x}} = \lim P(U)$$

where the limit runs through all commutative triangles



with U étale over X.

Proposition 4.4. [Me, p.60, II, §2] Let F be a sheaf on X_{et} . If $s \in F(U)$ is nonzero, then there is an $x \in X$ and an \bar{x} -point of U such that $s_{\bar{x}}$ is nonzero.

4.1 Étale morphisms

Definition 4.5. A morphism $f : Y \to X$ that is locally of finite-type is said to be *unramified* at $y \in Y$ if $\mathcal{O}_{Y,y}/\mathfrak{m}_x \mathcal{O}_{Y,y}$ is a field and is a finite separable extension of $\kappa(x)$, where x = f(y).

Definition 4.6. A morphism of schemes is defined to be *étale* if it is flat and unramified.

Theorem 4.7. [Me, p.29, I, Theorem 3.21] Let X be a connected normal scheme, and let K = R(X). Let X' be the normalization of X in L, and U any open subscheme of X' that is disjoint from the support of $\Omega^1_{X'/X}$. Then $U \to X$ is étale, and conversely any separated étale morphism $Y \to X$ of finite-type can be written

$$Y = \coprod U_i \to X$$

where each $U_i \to X$ is of this form.

Consider sites $(\mathbb{C}'/X')_{E'}$ and $(\mathbb{C}/X)_E$. A morphism $\pi : X' \to X$ of schemes defines a morphism of sites $(\mathbb{C}'/X')_{E'} \to (\mathbb{C}/X)_E$ if :

- 1. for any Y in \mathbb{C}/X , $Y_{(X')}$ is in \mathbb{C}'/X' ;
- 2. for any E-morphism $U \to Y$ in \mathbb{C}/X , $U_{(X')} \to Y_{(X')}$ is an E'-morphism.

Since the base change of a surjective family of morphisms is again surjective, π defines a functor

$$\pi^{\cdot} = (Y \mapsto Y_{X'}) : \mathbb{C}/X \to \mathbb{C}'/X'$$

which takes coverings to coverings. Suppose that $\pi: X'_{E'} \to X_E$ is continuous. If P' is a presheaf on $X'_{E'} \pi_p(P') = P' \circ \pi^{-}$ is a presheaf on X_E . Explicitly, $\pi_p(P')$ is the presheaf on X_E such that $\Gamma(U, \pi_p(P')) = \Gamma(U(X'), P')$. The presheaf $\pi_p(P')$ is called the *direct image* of P'. Then π_p defines a functor $\mathbb{P}(X'_{E'}) \to \mathbb{P}(X_E)$, and we define the *inverse image* functor $\pi^p: \mathbb{P}(X_E) \to \mathbb{P}(X'_{E'})$ to be the left adjoint of π_p , that is, π^p is such that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{P}(X')}(\pi^p P, P') = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{P}(X)}(P, \pi_p P')$$

by the following proposition.

Proposition 4.8. [Me, p.56, II, Proposition 2.2] Let \mathbb{C} and \mathbb{C}' be small categories (i.e., its class of objects is a set), and p a functor $\mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}'$. Let \mathbb{A} be a category equipped with direct limits, and write $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathbb{C}, \mathbb{A})$ and $\operatorname{Fun}(\mathbb{C}', \mathbb{A})$ for the categories of functors $\mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{A}$ and $\mathbb{C}' \to \mathbb{A}$. Then the functor

$$(f \mapsto f \circ p) : \operatorname{Fun}(\mathbb{C}', \mathbb{A}) \to \operatorname{Fun}(\mathbb{C}, \mathbb{A})$$

has a left adjoint.

The inverse image presheaf $\pi^p P$ can be expressed explicitly by the proof of Proposition 4.8. We put

$$(\pi^p P)(U') = \lim P(U)$$

where the limit runs through all commutative squares

$$(g, U) = U' \xrightarrow{g} U$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$X' \longrightarrow X$$

with $U \to X$ in \mathbb{C}/X .

4.2 Henselian rings

We defined the notion of Henselian rings in Section 3.4. There exist equivalent relations as follows.

Theorem 4.9. [Me, p.32, I, §4] Let x be the closed point of X = Spec A. The following are equivalent.

1. A is Henselian.

- 2. Any finite A-algebra B is a direct product of local rings $B = \prod B_i$ (B_i is then isomorphic to the ring $B_{\mathfrak{m}_i}$, where \mathfrak{m}_i is the maximal ideal of B).
- 3. If $f: Y \to X$ is étale and there is a point $y \in Y$ such that f(y) = x and $\kappa(y) = \kappa(x)$, then f has a section $s: X \to Y$.

Corollary 4.10. [Me, p.34, I, §4] If A is Henselian, then so is any finite local A-algebra B.

By definition, A being Henselian means that it has no finite étale extensions with trivial residue field extension, except those of the form $A \to A^r$. Thus if the residue field of A is separably algebracally closed, then A has no finite étale extensions at all. Such a Henselian ring is called *strictly Henselian* or *strictly local*.

Let $i: A \to A^h$ be a local homomorphism of local rings. Then A^h is the *Henselization* of A if it is a Henselian local ring and if any other local homomorphism from A into a Henselian local ring factors uniquely through i.

The strict Henselization (A^{sh}, h) of A is defined as the definition of the Henselization of A.

Let X be a scheme and let $x \in X$. An *étale neighborhood* of x is a pair (Y, y) where Y is an étale X-scheme and y is a point of Y which maps to x and $\kappa(x) = \kappa(y)$. The connected étale neighborhoods of x form a filtered system and the limit

$$\lim \Gamma(Y, \mathcal{O}) = \mathcal{O}_{X,x}^h.$$

Let X be a scheme and $\bar{x} \to X$ a geometric point of X. An *étale neighborhood* of \bar{x} is a commutative diagram:



with $U \to X$ étale. Then

$$\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{sh} = \lim \Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U)$$

where the limit is taken over all étale neighborhoods of \bar{x} . We write $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}^{sh}$, or simply $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ for this limit.

4.3 Cohomology

We consider right derived functors of left exact functors in the following cases.

1. The functor $\Gamma(X, -) : \mathbb{S}(X_E) \to \mathbf{Ab}$ with

$$\Gamma(X,F) = \mathrm{H}^{i}(X,-) = \mathrm{H}^{i}(X_{E},-),$$

is left exact and its right derived functors are written as

$$R^i \Gamma(X, -) = \mathrm{H}^i(X, -) = \mathrm{H}^i(X_E, -).$$

The group $H^{i}(X_{E}, F)$ is called the *i*-cohomology group of X_{E} with values in F.

2. For any continuous morphism $\pi : X'_{E'} \to X_E$, the right derived functors $R^i \pi_*$ of the functor $\pi_* : \mathbb{S}(X'_{E'}) \to \mathbb{S}(X_E)$ are defined. The sheaves $R^i \pi_* F$ are called the *higher direct images* of F.

Proposition 4.11. [Me, p.116, III, Remark 3.11 (a)] For any smooth quasi-projective group scheme G over a Henselian ring A,

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(X,G) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{i}(X_{0},G_{0})$$

for $i \ge 1$, where $X = \operatorname{Spec} A$, X_0 is the closed point of X, and $G_0 = G \times_X X_0$ is the closed fiber of G/X.

Proposition 4.12. [Me, p.111, III, Proposition 3.3] Let $E_1 \supset E_2$ be classes of morphisms satisfying Condition 4.1, let \mathbb{C}_2/X be a subcategory of \mathbb{C}_1 , and let $f : (\mathbb{C}_1/X)_{E_1} \rightarrow$ $(\mathbb{C}_2/X)_{E_2}$ be the morphism induced by the identity map on X. Assume that for every U in \mathbb{C}_2/X and every covering of U in the E_1 -topology, there is a covering of U in the E_2 -topology that refines it. Then $f_* : \mathbb{S}(X_{E_1}) \rightarrow \mathbb{S}(X_{E_2})$ is exact and hence

$$\mathrm{H}^{i}(X_{E_{2}}, f_{*}(F)) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{i}(X_{E_{1}}, F)$$

for any sheaf F on X_{E_1} .

4.4 The definition of Čech cohomology

Let X be a scheme. Then we define Cech cohomology groups over X in this subsection. Let $\mathcal{U} = (U_i \stackrel{\phi_i}{\to} X)_{i \in I}$ be a covering of X in the E-topology on X. For any (p-1)-tuple (i_0, \dots, i_p) with i_j in I we write $U_{i_0} \times_X \dots \times_X U_{i_p} = U_{i_0 \dots i_p}$. Let P be a presheaf on X_E . The canonical projection

$$U_{i_0\cdots i_p} \to U_{i_0\cdots \hat{i}_j\cdots i_p} = U_{i_0} \times \cdots \times U_{i_{j-1}} \times U_{i_j} \times \cdots \times U_{i_p}$$

induces a restriction morphism

$$P(U_{i_0\cdots\hat{i}_j\cdots i_p}) \to P(U_{i_0\cdots i_p})$$

which we write ambiguously as res_i . We put

$$C^{\cdot}(\mathcal{U}, P) = (C^{p}(\mathcal{U}, P), \mathrm{d}^{p})_{p},$$
$$C^{p}(\mathcal{U}, P) = \prod_{I^{p+1}} P(U_{i_{0}\cdots i_{p}}).$$

We define a homomorphism

$$d^p: C^p(\mathcal{U}, P) \to C^{p+1}(\mathcal{U}, P)$$

so that if $s = (s_{i_0}...i_p) \in C^p(\mathcal{U}, P)$, then

$$(\mathrm{d}^p s)_{i_0 \cdots i_p} = \sum_{j=0}^{p+1} (-1)^j \operatorname{res}_j(s_{i_0 \cdots \check{i}_j \cdots i_{p+1}}).$$

The usual argument shows that $d^{p+1} d^p = 0$. The cohomology groups of $(C^p(\mathcal{U}, P), d^p)$ are called the *Čech cohomology groups* with respect to the covering \mathcal{U} of X and is denoted by $\check{\mathrm{H}}^p(\mathcal{U}, P)$. A covering $\mathcal{V} = (V_j \xrightarrow{\psi_j} X)_{j \in J}$ is called a *refinement* of \mathcal{U} if there is a map $\tau : J \to I$ such that for each j, ψ_j factors through $\phi_{\tau j}$, that is, $\psi_j = \phi_{\tau j} \eta_j$ for some $\eta_j : V_j \to U_{\tau j}$.

The map τ , together with the family η_j , induces maps $\tau^p : C^p(\mathcal{U}, P) \to C^p(\mathcal{V}, P)$ as follows. If $s = (s_{i_0} \cdots s_{i_p}) \in C^p(\mathcal{U}, P)$, then

$$(\tau^p s)_{j_0\cdots j_p} = \operatorname{res}_{\eta_{j_0}\times\eta_{j_1}\times\cdots\times\eta_{j_p}}(s_{\tau_{j_0}\cdots\tau_{j_p}}).$$

These maps τ^p commute with d and hence induce maps on the cohomology,

$$\rho(\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{U}, \tau) : \check{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(\mathcal{U}, P) \to \check{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(\mathcal{V}, P)$$

The map $\rho(\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{U}, \tau)$ does not depend on τ or η_j . Hence, if \mathcal{V} is a refinement of \mathcal{U} , we get a homomorphism

$$\rho(\mathcal{V},\mathcal{U}): \check{\operatorname{H}}^{p}(\mathcal{U},P) \to \check{\operatorname{H}}^{p}(\mathcal{V},P)$$

depending only on \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{U} . It follows that if $\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{V}, \mathcal{W}$ are three coverings of X such that \mathcal{W} is a refinement of \mathcal{V} and \mathcal{V} is a refinement of \mathcal{U} , then

$$\rho(\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{U}) = \rho(\mathcal{W}, \mathcal{V})\rho(\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{U}).$$

Thus we may define the *Cech cohomology groups* of P over X to be

$$\check{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(X_{E}, P) = \lim \check{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(\mathcal{U}, P),$$

where the limit is taken over all coverings \mathcal{U} of X.

Theorem 4.13. [Me, p.104, III, Theorem 2.17] Let X be a quasi-compact scheme such that every finite subset of X is contained in an affine open set (for example, X quasi-projective over an affine scheme), and let F be a sheaf on X_{et} . Then there are canonical isomorphisms

 $\check{\operatorname{H}}^{p}(X_{et}, F) \simeq \operatorname{H}^{p}(X_{et}, F)$

for all p.

4.5 The relation between Galois cohomology and étale cohomology

Let K be a field, $G = G(K_s/K)$ and X = Spec(K). In this subsection we consider the relation between a sheaf on X_{et} and a discrete G-module.

Let P be a presheaf on X_{et} . If K' is a finite separable field extension of K, then we write $P(K') = P(\operatorname{Spec} K')$. Define $M_P = \lim_{K \to H} P(K')$ where the limit is taken over all subfields K' of K_s which are finite over K. Then G acts on P(K') on the left through its action on K' whenever K'/K is Galois, and it follows that G acts on the limit M_P . Clearly $M_P = \bigcup_{K} M_P^H$, where H runs through the open subgroups of G, and so M_P is a discrete G-module.

Conversely, given a discrete G-module M, we can define a presheaf F_M so that

- 1. $F_M(K') = M^H$, if $H = \text{Gal}(K_s/K)$,
- 2. $F_M(\prod K_i) = \coprod F_M(K_i).$

Theorem 4.14. [Me, p.53, II, Theorem 1.9] The correspondences $F \leftrightarrow M_F$, $M \leftrightarrow F_M$ induce an equivalence between the category $\mathbb{S}(X_{et})$ and the category G-mod of discrete G-modules.

4.6 Cohomology with support

We define cohomology groups which is different from in Section 4.3.

Let $i: \mathbb{Z} \to X$ be a closed immersion and $j: \mathbb{U} \to X$ an open immersion such that X is the disjoint union of $i(\mathbb{Z})$ and $j(\mathbb{U})$. For any sheaf F on X_{et} , $i_*i^!F$ is the largest subsheaf of F that is zero outside \mathbb{Z} . The functor $F \mapsto \Gamma(\mathbb{Z}, i^!F)$ is left exact, and its right derived functors, $\mathrm{H}^p_{\mathbb{Z}}(X, F)$, are called the *cohomology groups of* F with support on \mathbb{Z} . The functor $\mathrm{H}^p_{\mathbb{Z}}(X, F)$, are contravariant in (X, \mathbb{U}) .

Proposition 4.15. [Me, p.92, III, Proposition 1.25] For any sheaf F on X_{et} there is a long exact sequence

$$0 \to (i^! F)(Z) \to F(X) \to F(U) \to \dots \to \mathrm{H}^p(X, F)$$
$$\to \mathrm{H}^{p+1}_Z(X, F) \to \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(X, F) \to \dots.$$

Proposition 4.16. [Me, p.92, III, proposition 1.27] Let $Z \subset X$ and $Z' \subset X'$ be closed subschemes, and $\pi: X' \to X$ an étale morphism such that the restriction of π to Z' is an isomorphism $\pi|Z': Z' \simeq Z$ and $\pi(X' - Z') \subset X - Z$. Then

$$\mathrm{H}^p_Z(X,F) \to \mathrm{H}^p_{Z'}(X',\pi^*F)$$

is an isomorphism for all $p \ge 0$ and all shaeves F on X_{et} .

Lemma 4.17. [Me, p.88, III, Lemma 1.16] Let I be a filtered category and $(i \mapsto X_i)$ a contravariant functor from I to schemes over X. Assume that all schemes X_i are quasicompact and that the maps X_i are affine. Let $X_{\infty} = \lim_{i \to \infty} X_i$, and, for a sheaf F on X_{et} , let F_i and F_{∞} be their inverse images on X_i and X_{∞} respectively. Then

$$\lim \mathrm{H}^p((X_i)_{et}, F_i) \simeq \mathrm{H}^p((X_\infty)_{et}, F_\infty)$$

Corollary 4.18. [Me, p.93, III, Corollary 1.28] Let z be a closed point of X. Then

 $\mathrm{H}_{z}^{p}(X,F) \simeq \mathrm{H}_{z}^{p}(\mathrm{Spec}\,\mathcal{O}_{X,z}^{h},F).$

Proof. By Proposition 4.16,

$$\mathrm{H}^p_z(X,\mathcal{F}) = \mathrm{H}^p_u(Y,\mathcal{F})$$

for any étale neighborhood (Y, y) of z such that only y maps to z. Moreover,

(4.19)
$$\lim \mathrm{H}_{y}^{p}(Y,\mathcal{F}) = \mathrm{H}_{z}^{p}(\operatorname{Spec}\mathcal{O}_{X,z}^{h},\mathcal{F})$$

by Propositions 4.15 and 4.17. So the statement follows.

Theorem 4.20. [Me, p.88, III, Theorem 1.15] Let $\pi : Y \to X$ be a quasi-compact morphism and F a sheaf on Y_{et} . Let \bar{x} be a geometric point of X such that $\kappa(\bar{x})$ is the separable closure of $\kappa(x)$. Let $\tilde{X} = \operatorname{Spec} \mathcal{O}_{X,\bar{x}}, \tilde{Y} = Y \times_X \tilde{X}$, and let \tilde{F} be the inverse image of F on \tilde{Y} :



Then $R^p \pi_*(F)_{\bar{x}} \simeq \mathrm{H}^p(\widetilde{Y}, \widetilde{F}).$

4.7 Spectral sequences of étale cohomology

Here we list a few spectral sequences which will be needed later. We discuss the details in Section 6

Theorem 4.21. [W, p.150, The Grothendieck spectral sequence] Let \mathbb{A}, \mathbb{B} , and \mathbb{C} be abelian categories. Assume that \mathbb{A} and \mathbb{B} have enough injective objects, and let $f : \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$ and $g : \mathbb{B} \to \mathbb{C}$ be left exact functors. If f takes injective objects to g-acyclic objects (i.e, $(R^ig)(f(I)) = 0$ for all i > 0 if I is an injective object of \mathbb{A}), then there is a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = (R^p g)(R^q f)(A) \Rightarrow R^n(gf)(A)$$

for any object A of \mathbb{A} .

The following theorems follow from Theorem 4.21.

Theorem 4.22. [Leray spectral sequence] [Me, p.89, III, Theorem 1.18 (a)] Let $(\mathbb{C}/X)_E$, $(\mathbb{C}'/X')_{E'}$ be sites. Then for any morphism of sites $\pi : (\mathbb{C}'/X')_{E'} \to (\mathbb{C}/X)_E$, there is a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = \mathrm{H}^p(X_E, R^p \pi_* F) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(X'_{E'}, F)$$

where F is a sheaf on $X'_{E'}$.

Theorem 4.23. [Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence] [Me, p.105, III, Theorem 2.20] Let $\pi: X' \to X$ be a finite Galois covering with Galois group G, and let F be a sheaf for the étale topology on X. Then there is a spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = \mathrm{H}^p(G, \mathrm{H}^q(X'_{et}, F)) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(X_{et}, F).$$

4.8 The definition of Azumaya algebra

In this subsection we define Azumaya algebras over a scheme. By definition, we see that Azumaya algebras over a field correspond with central simple algebras over a field.

Let R be a local ring. For an R-algebra A, we denote the opposite algebra of A by A° . This is the algebra with the order of the multiplication reversed. A is called an Azumaya algebra over R if it is free of finite rank as an R-module and if the map

 $A \otimes_R A^{\circ} \to \operatorname{End}_{R\operatorname{-mod}}(A)$ which sends $a \otimes a'$ to the endomorphism $(x \mapsto axa')$ is an isomorphism.

Let X be a scheme. An \mathcal{O}_X -algebra A is called an Azumaya algebra over X if it is coherent as an \mathcal{O}_X -module and if, for all closed points x of X, A_x is an Azumaya algebra over the local ring $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$. For a finitely generated A-module, the following is known.

Theorem 4.24. [Me, p.11, I, Theorem 2.9] Let M be a finitely generated A-module. The followings are equivalent.

- 1. M is flat.
- 2. $M_{\mathfrak{m}}$ is a free $A_{\mathfrak{m}}$ -module for all maximal ideals \mathfrak{m} of A.
- 3. M is a locally free sheaf on Spec A.
- 4. *M* is a projective *A*-module.

Remark 4.25. Let $X = \operatorname{Spec} R$ be affine. An Azumaya algebra over X corresponds to an *R*-algebra A. Moreover A is projective and finitely generated as an *R*-module and that the canonical map $A \otimes_R A^\circ \to \operatorname{End}_{R-mdl}(A)$ is an isomorphism by Theorem 4.24.

Two Azumaya algebras A and A' over X are said to be *similar* if there exist locally free \mathcal{O}_X -modules E and E' of finite rank over \mathcal{O}_X , such that

$$A \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \underline{\operatorname{End}}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(E) \simeq A' \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \underline{\operatorname{End}}_{\mathcal{O}_X}(E').$$

The set of similarity classes of Azumaya algebras on X becomes a group under the operation $[A][A'] = [A \otimes A']$: the identity element is $[\mathcal{O}_X]$ and $[A]^{-1} = [A^\circ]$. This is the *Brauer* group Br(X) of X. Br is a functor from schemes to abelian group.

Theorem 4.26. [Me, p.142, IV, Theorem 2.5] There is a canonical injective homomorphism

 $i: \operatorname{Br}(X) \to \operatorname{H}^2(X_{et}, \mathbb{G}_m).$

We write Br'(X) for $H^2(X, \mathbb{G}_m)$ and call it the *cohomological Brauer group*.

Proposition 4.27. [Me, IV, §2, Proposition 2.11] Let $X = \operatorname{Spec} R$, where R is a local ring, and let $r \in \operatorname{Br}'(X)$. Then the followings are equivalent.

1. $r \in Br(X)$.

2. There is a finite étale surjective map $Y \to X$ such that r maps to zero in Br'(Y).

Theorem 4.28. [H, Theorem] Let X = Spec(A) be a regular scheme. If $c \in Br'(X)$ and $c_y = i([\Lambda_y])$ in $Br'(A_{\mathfrak{m}_y})$ for all closed points $y \in X$, then $c = i([\Lambda])$.

Proposition 4.29. Let A be a regular local ring, X = Spec(A), K = R(A) and g: Spec $(K) \to X$ the generic point. Put

$$K_{un} = \lim_{\overrightarrow{X'}} R(X')$$

where X' runs through finite étale morphism over X. Then

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m})) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{Br}(K) \to \mathrm{Br}(K_{un})\right)$$

Proof. Let x be the closed point of X. Then

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m})) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{Br}(K) \to \mathrm{Br}(K_{\bar{x}})\right)$$

by Lemma 7.4. So it is sufficient to prove that $K_{\bar{x}} = K_{un}$. If $X' \to X$ is an étale neighborhood of x, then there exists an étale neighborhood of $x X'' \to X$ such that R(X'')/R(X) is a Galois extension and $R(X') \subset R(X'')$.

The following fact is proved by Gabber (c.f, [Go]).

Corollary 4.30. Let A be a regular integral ring. Then

$$\operatorname{Br}(A) = \operatorname{Br}'(A).$$

Proof. If A is a local ring, there exists a finite étale morphism $Y \to X$ for any $r \in Br'(X)$ such that

$$r \in \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(K) \to \operatorname{Br}(R(Y))\right).$$

So

$$r \in \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}'(X) \to \operatorname{Br}(Y)\right)$$

because $\operatorname{Br}'(Y) \subset \operatorname{Br}(R(Y))$ and

is commutative. Therefore $r \in Br(Y)$ by Proposition 4.27. So the statement follows from Theorem 4.28.

Definition 4.31. If S is a Galois extension of R relative to G, and f is a 2-cocycle of G in U(S), i.e., $f \in Z^2(G, U(S))$, we can define a crossed-product algebra $\Delta(f; S; G)$ as follows. $\Delta(f; S; G)$ is a free (left) S-module with free generators $\{u_{\delta}\}$ indexed by elements of G, with multiplication defined by

$$(au_{\rho})(bu_{\delta}) = a\rho(b)f(\rho,\delta)u_{\rho\delta}.$$

Theorem 4.32. [A-G, p.406, Theorem A.12] Let S be a Galois extension of R relative to G. If $f \in Z^2(G, U(S))$, then $\Delta(f; S; G)$ is a central separable algebra over R which contains S as a maximal commutative subring and is split by S. Moreover the map

$$f \to \Delta(f; S; G)$$

induces a homomorphism

(4.33)
$$\operatorname{H}^2(G, U(S)) \to \operatorname{Br}(R)$$

Theorem 4.34. [A-G, p.408, Theorem A.15] Let S be a Galois extension of R relative to G, U(S) the group of units of the commutative ring S and suppose that S has the property that every finitely generated projective S-module of rank one is free. Then the sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^2(G, U(S)) \to \mathrm{Br}(R) \to \mathrm{Br}(S)$$

is exact.

Let G be a cyclic group of order n, and choose a generator s of G. The choice of s defines a character $\chi_s: G \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ such that $\chi_s(s) = 1/n$, and the coboundary of the exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Q} \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z} \to 0$$

transforms χ_s into an element $\theta_s = \delta \chi_s$ of $\mathrm{H}^2(G, \mathbb{Z})$.

Theorem 4.35. [S2, VIII, §4] Let G be a cyclic group of order n, and choose a generator s of G. Let $N = \sum_{t \in G} t$. Then the homomorphism

which is given by the cup product with θ_s is an isomorphism. This isomorphism depends on the choice of s.

Remark 4.37. Let G be a cyclic group of order n and S a Galois extension of R relative to G. Let

$$\Omega_{G,s}: U(S)^G/NU(S) \to Br(R)$$

be the composition of the maps (4.36) and (4.33). Then, for $b \in U(S)$, $\Omega_{G,s}(\bar{b})$ corresponds to Δ_b which is generated over S by element f with the relation:

$$f^n = b, \quad f \cdot y = s(y) \cdot f.$$

Theorem 4.38. [A-G, p.389, Theorem 7.5] Br(k) = Br(k[x]) if and only if k is perfect.

Proof. It is sufficient to show that $\operatorname{Br}(k) \neq \operatorname{Br}(k[x])$ if k is not perfect. We shall show that $\operatorname{Br}(k[x]) \to \operatorname{Br}(k)$ is not injective. Let $p = \operatorname{ch}(k) > 0$, y a root of $y^p - y - x = 0$, and $\Omega = k(x)(y)$. Then Ω is a cyclic extension of k(x) of degree p and k[x][y] = k[y] is the integral closure of k[x] in Ω . Moreover, k[x][y] is a ring Galois extension of k[x] relative to $G(\Omega/k(x))$. Let $c \in k$ with $c \notin k$. Then c as an element of k(x) is not a norm from Ω . Thus, c determines a non-trivial crossed-product $\Omega_{G(\Omega/k(x)),s}(c)$ where $s \in G(\Omega/k(x))$ with s(y) = y + 1. Let

$$\Lambda = \Omega_{G(k[y]/k[x]),s}(c).$$

Then $\Lambda \otimes k(x) = \Omega_{G(\Omega/k(x)),s}$ and $\Omega_{G(\Omega/k(x)),s}$ is not the trivial algebra. So Λ is not the trivial algebra over k[x].

We see that Λ is the kernel of the map $Br(k[x]) \to Br(k)$. Now Λ is generated over k[x] by elements α and β with the relations:

$$\alpha^p - \alpha = x, \ \beta^p = c, \ \beta \alpha = (\alpha + 1)\beta.$$

The image $\overline{\Lambda}$ of Λ under the map $k[x] \to k$ is generated over k by elements $\overline{\alpha}$ and $\overline{\beta}$ with the relations:

$$\bar{\alpha}^p - \bar{\alpha} = 0, \ \bar{\beta}^p = c, \ \bar{\beta}\bar{\alpha} = (\bar{\alpha} + 1)\bar{\beta}.$$

Let L = k(t) with $t^p = c$ and let elements α' , β' of the endomorphism ring of k-module LHom_k(L, L) be defined as follows: α' is the derivation of L over k given by $\alpha'(t^n) = -nt^n$ and β' is the multiplication by t. Then α' and β' satisfy the same relations over k as do $\bar{\alpha}$ and $\bar{\beta}$, i.e,

$$(\alpha')^p - \alpha' = 0, \ (\beta')^p = c, \ \beta'\alpha' = (\alpha' + 1)\beta'.$$

So there is a homomorphism from $\overline{\Lambda}$ to $\operatorname{Hom}_k(L, L)$ which maps $\overline{\alpha}, \overline{\beta}$ to α', β' respectively. Since $\overline{\Lambda}$ is a central simple algebra over k of dimension p^2 and $\operatorname{Hom}_k(L, L)$ also has dimension p^2 over k, it follows that $\overline{\Lambda} \simeq \operatorname{Hom}_k(L, L)$. So the proof is complete.

Proposition 4.39. Let k be the separable closure of an imperfect field, K an algebraic function field of k in one variable. Then

$$\operatorname{Br}(K) \neq 0.$$

For the proof of Proposition 4.39, we prove the following lemmas.

Lemma 4.40. Suppose that K is a field with ch(K) = p > 0 and $Br(K)_p \neq 0$. Then

$$\operatorname{Br}(K)_{p^{i+1}} \setminus \operatorname{Br}(K)_{p^i} \neq \emptyset.$$

Proof. Let K_s be the separable closure of K. Then, we have the exact sequence

$$0 \to K_s^*/K_s^{*p^i} \xrightarrow{p} K_s^*/K_s^{*p^{i+1}} \to K_s^*/K_s^{*p} \to 0.$$

Therefore, we have the exact sequence

(4.41)
$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(K, K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p^{i}}) \xrightarrow{p} \mathrm{H}^{1}(K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p^{i+1}}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p}) \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(K, K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p^{i}}).$$

Then the diagram

(4.42)
$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{H}^{1}(K, K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p^{i}}) \xrightarrow{p} \operatorname{H}^{1}(K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p^{i+1}}) \\ \downarrow \\ \operatorname{Br}(K)_{p^{i}} \xrightarrow{} \operatorname{Br}(K)_{p^{i+1}} \end{array}$$

is commutative and the top right arrow of (4.42) is injective because the bottom right arrow of (4.42) is the natural inclusion map.

Moreover, $\mathrm{H}^{2}(K, K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p^{i}}) = 0$ by Proposition 3.7. Therefore the sequence

 $0 \to \operatorname{Br}(K)_{p^i} \to \operatorname{Br}(K)_{p^{i+1}} \to \operatorname{Br}(K)_p \to 0$

is exact by (4.41) and $\mathrm{H}^{1}(K, K_{s}^{*}/K_{s}^{*p^{i}}) \simeq \mathrm{Br}(K)_{p^{i}}$. So the statement follows by the induction.

Lemma 4.43. Suppose that K satisfies the assumption of Lemma 4.40 and L is a finite extension field of K. Then $Br(L) \neq 0$.

Proof. It is sufficient to prove the statement in the case where [L:K] is a prime number. Suppose that ([L:K], p) = 1). Then the homomorphism Res : $\operatorname{Br}(K) \to \operatorname{Br}(L)$ is injective when restricted to $\operatorname{Br}(K)_p$ ([S1, I, §2, p.12, Corollary of Proposition 9]). So $\operatorname{Br}(L) \neq 0$. Suppose that [L:K] = p. Then, by Lemma 4.40, we have $x \in \operatorname{Br}_{p^2}(K) \setminus \operatorname{Br}_p(K)$. On the other hand, $\operatorname{Cor} \circ \operatorname{Res} = p$. Therefore, $\operatorname{Res}(x) \neq 0$. So the statement follows.

Proof of Proposition 4.39. $Br(k(x))_p \neq 0$ by Proposition 4.38. Therefore the statement follows from Lemma 4.43.

5 Hasse principle

In this section we discuss a known result on the Hasse principle in Subsection 5.1 and give a certain counter-example to the Hasse principle in the case of function fields of curves in Subsection 5.2.

5.1 Classical results and Conjectures

Theorem 5.1. [K-K-S, Theorem 8.40 and Theorem 8.42] Let k be a global field. Then the following 1, 2 holds.

1. The local-global map

$$\mathcal{X}(G_k) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \mathcal{X}(G_{k\mathfrak{p}})$$

where \mathfrak{p} runs through almost all primes of k is injective.

2. The local-global map

$$\operatorname{Br}(k) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p}} \operatorname{Br}(k_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

where p runs through all primes of k is injective.

Moreover, let m be a positive integer which is prime to ch(k). Then

$$\mathcal{X}(G(k_s/k))_m = \mathcal{H}^1(k, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z}), \quad \mathcal{Br}(k)_m = \mathcal{H}^2(k, \mu_m).$$

On the other hand, for the cohomology groups of higher dimension, the following fact is known.

Proposition 5.2. [S1, p.87, II, §4, Proposition 13] Let k be an algebraic number field. If $p \neq 2$, or if k is totally imaginary, we have $\operatorname{cd}_p(G_k) \leq 2$.

Let m be a positive integer which is prime to ch(k). Then

$$k^*/k^{*m} \simeq \mathrm{H}^1(k,\mu_m)$$

by Hilbert theorem 90. The following fact on cohomology groups is known.

Theorem 5.3. [N-S-W, p.530, IX, (9.1.11) Theorem] Let k be a global field, m a natural number prime to ch(k) and T a set of primes of k of density

$$\delta(T) = \lim_{s \to 1} \frac{\displaystyle\sum_{\mathfrak{p} \in T} N\mathfrak{p}^{-s}}{\displaystyle\sum_{\text{all } \mathfrak{p}} N\mathfrak{p}^{-s}} = 1.$$

Then the localization homomorphism

$$k^*/k^{*m} \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in T} k_{\mathfrak{p}}^*/k_{\mathfrak{p}}^{*m}$$

is injective except in the case: (*) k is a number field, $m = 2^r m'$, m' odd, $r \ge 3$, $k(\mu_{2^r})/k$ is not cyclic, and all primes \mathfrak{p} dividing 2 in T decompose in $k(\mu_{2^r})/k$, where the kernel is cyclic of order 2.

Because of the above results and results in Section 3.3, we consider the following conjecture.

Conjecture 5.4. Let k be a finitely generated field over a prime field, m an odd prime with (m, ch(k)) = 1, p any positive integer and X a normal complete curve over k. Then the local-global map

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(R(X),\mu_{m}) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in X} \mathrm{H}^{p}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}},\mu_{m})$$

is injective.

We claim that Conjecture 5.4 is true if k is an algebraic number field and p = 1 (in preparation). On the other hand, it is proved that the local-global map of the Brauer group is injective in the case where k is an arbitrary field and $X = \mathbb{P}_k^1$ by Harder ([Ha]). In this thesis, we prove this result by an alternative method in Section 7.

5.2 A counterexample for the Hasse principle

In this section, we show that Conjecture 5.4 does not hold in the case where X is a normal complete curve over an algebraically closed field. We start with the following lemma.

Lemma 5.5. Suppose that X is a regular scheme. Then

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) = \bigcap_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

For the proof of Lemma 5.5, we use the following fact.

Theorem 5.6. [Zariski-Nagata purity theorem] Let $\phi: X \to S$ be a finite surjective morphism of integral schemes with X normal and S regular. Assume that the fiber X_p of ϕ above each codimension 1 point p of S is étale over $\kappa(p)$. Then ϕ is a finite étale cover. Proof of Lemma 5.5. Let K be a field, $G = G(K_s/K)$ and G_{λ} ($\lambda \in \Lambda$) a normal closed subgroup of G. Suppose that M_{λ} is the Galois extension field over K which corresponds to G_{λ} . Then, according to the infinite Galois theory, $\bigcap_{\lambda \in \Lambda} M_{\lambda}$ corresponds to the closure of the group which is generated by G_{λ} ($\lambda \in \Lambda$). So the statement follows from Theorem 5.6.

Lemma 5.7. Let X be a regular scheme. Then

$$\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(R(X),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\to\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in X^{(1)}}\operatorname{H}^{1}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\right)$$
$$=\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(X,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\to\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in X^{(1)}}\operatorname{H}^{1}(\kappa(\mathfrak{p}),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\right).$$

Proof. Let \mathcal{O} be a discrete valuation ring and \mathfrak{m} its maximal ideal. Then the sequence (5.8) $0 \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{O}), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(R(\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{O})), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(R(\mathrm{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_{\bar{\mathfrak{m}}})), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$ is exact. So, the sequence

$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(R(X), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(R(\mathrm{Spec}\,(\mathcal{O}_{X,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$$

is exact by Lemma 5.5 and (5.8).

On the other hand, the sequence

$$0 \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$$
$$\to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(R(\mathrm{Spec}\,(\mathcal{O}_{X,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$$

is also exact by (5.8).

Let

$$M = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}), \ M' = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}).$$

Then the diagram

is commutative. By applying the snake lemma to the above diagram, we see that

$$\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(R(X),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\to\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in X^{(1)}}\operatorname{H}^{1}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}},\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\right)$$
$$=\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(X,\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\to\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in X^{(1)}}\operatorname{H}^{1}(\operatorname{Spec}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}\right),\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\right)$$

because $\mathcal{O}_{X,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}} = \widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$. Moreover,

$$\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{H}^{1}(\operatorname{Spec}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X, \mathfrak{p}}\right), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{1}(X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{H}^{1}(\kappa(\mathfrak{p}), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\right)$$

by Proposition 4.11. So the statement follows.

If X is an algebraic curve of genus g over an algebraically closed field,

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{H}^{1}(R(X), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X_{(0)}} \mathrm{H}^{1}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})\right)$$

because of the fact that $\kappa(\mathfrak{p})$ is an algebraically closed field and Lemma 5.7.

Moreover,

$$H^{1}(X, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})_{m} = H^{1}(X, \mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})$$
$$= (\mathbb{Z}/m\mathbb{Z})^{2g}.$$

So if $g \neq 0$, the Hasse principle for function fields of curves of genus g and the group of characters does not hold.

6 The edge maps of the Grothendieck spectral sequence

In this section, we characterize the edge maps of the Grothendieck spectral sequence. We often consider the following assumption in this section.

Assumption 6.1. $\mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B}, \mathcal{C}$ are abelian categories which have enough injective objects. $G: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}, F: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ are left exact functors such that G takes injective objects of \mathcal{C} to F-acyclic objects.

We assume that Assumption 6.1 is satisfied. We define a homomorphism of functors $r_{F,G}^p(A) : R^p F(G(A)) \to R^p(FG)(A)$ (for any object A of C) by induction on p so that it satisfies the following properties.

PROPERTY 6.2. (1) If p = 0, $r_{F,G}^0(A) = \mathrm{id}_{FG(A)}$.

(2) Suppose that p > 0 and assume that $r_{F,G}^i$ is defined for $i \leq p-1$. Let $0 \to A \to I \to M \to 0$ be an exact sequence and I an injective object. Then the following

commutative diagram

$$(6.3) \qquad \begin{array}{c} R^{p-1}F(G(I)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,G}^{p-1}(I)} & R^{p-1}(FG)(I) \\ \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R^{p-1}F(G(I)/G(A)) \xrightarrow{R^{p-1}}F(G(M)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,G}^{p-1}(M)} & R^{p-1}(FG)(M) \\ & \delta_{1}^{p-1} \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R^{p}F(G(A)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,G}^{p}(A)} & R^{p}(FG)(A) \end{array}$$

is commutative where $\delta_1^{p-1}, \delta_2^{p-1}$ are the connecting homomorphisms.

Note that the vertical sequences are exact. Since G(I) is acyclic, $R^p F(G(I)) = 0$ by assumption. So the connecting homomorphism δ_1^{p-1} is surjective if p > 0. Therefore, $r_{F,G}^p(A)$ is well-defined.

Proposition 6.4. If $s^p(A) : R^p F(G(A)) \to R^p(FG)(A)$ $(p \ge 0)$ is a homomorphism of functors satisfying Property 6.2 (1), (2) above (replacing $r_{F,G}^p$ by s^p), then s^p coincides with $r_{F,G}^p$ for all $p \ge 0$.

Proof. Suppose that A is an object of \mathcal{C} . If p = 0 then $s^0(A) = \mathrm{id}_{FG(A)} = r^0_{F,G}(A)$.

We assume that p > 0 and $s^q = r_{F,G}^q$ for all q < p. Take an exact sequence

$$0 \to A \to I \to M \to 0$$

with I injective. Then we have the commutative diagram of the above (1) (replacing $r_{F,G}^{p-1}, r_{F,G}^p$ by s^{p-1}, s^p). As we pointed out above, δ_1^{p-1} is surjective. The homomorphism $R^{p-1}F(G(I)/G(A)) \to R^{p-1}F(G(M))$ and the connecting homomorphisms

$$\delta_1^{p-1} : R^{p-1}F(G(I)/G(A)) \to R^pF(G(A)), \qquad \delta_2^{p-1} : R^{p-1}(FG)(M) \to R^p(FG)(A)$$

are independent of s^{p-1}, s^p . By assumption $s^{p-1}(M) = r_{F,G}^{p-1}(M)$. Therefore, $s^p(A) = r_{F,G}^p(A)$. This proves the proposition.

Moreover if p > 1, δ_l is an isomorphism. Since the image of the map from $R^{p-1}F(G(I))$ to $R^p(FG)(A)$ in the above diagram is 0, $r^p_{F,G}(A)$ is well-defined. This definition is independent of the choice of the exact sequence $0 \to A \to I \to M \to 0$ (I is an injective object).

Lemma 6.5. (a) Even if I is not an injective object, the diagram (6.3) is commutative.

(b) Suppose that \mathcal{D} is an abelian category, $H : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$ is a left exact functor which takes injective objects to FG-acyclic objects, and that GH takes injective objects to F-acyclic objects. Then the following diagram

$$R^{p}F(GH(A)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,GH}^{p}(A)} R^{p}(FG)(H(A)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,GH}^{p}(A)} R^{p}(FGH)(A)$$

is commutative.

Proof. (a) For an exact sequence $0 \to A \to I \to M \to 0$ (I is not always an injective object), there exists an exact sequence $0 \to A \to J \to M' \to 0$ (J is an injective object) such that a diagram



is commutative. As $R^p F, R^p(FG)$ are δ -functors,

$$\begin{array}{cccc} R^{p-1}F(G(I)/G(A)) & \xrightarrow{\delta} R^{p}F(G(A)) & & R^{p-1}(FG)(M) \xrightarrow{\delta} R^{p}(FG)(A) \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ R^{p-1}F(G(J)/G(A)) \xrightarrow{\delta} R^{p}F(G(A)) & & & R^{p-1}(FG)(M') \xrightarrow{\delta} R^{p}(FG)(A) \end{array}$$

are commutative diagrams. Moreover, the following diagram is commutative:

The statement (a) follows from the above consideration.

(b) Let $0 \to A \to I \to M \to 0$ be an exact sequence with I injective. Then

$$0 \to H(A) \to H(I) \to H(I)/H(A) \to 0$$

is exact. We put N = H(I)/H(A). By the statement (a), the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R^{p-1}F(GH(I)/GH(A)) & \longrightarrow R^{p-1}F(G(H(I)/H(A))) & \stackrel{r_{F,G}^{p-1}(N)}{\longrightarrow} R^{p-1}FG(H(I)/H(A)) \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ R^{p}F(GH(A)) & \stackrel{r_{F,GH}^{p}(A)}{\longrightarrow} R^{p}(FG)(H(A)) \end{array}$$

is commutative. By the definition of $r_{FG,H}^{p-1}$, the diagram

is commutative. Moreover, since $r_{F,G}^{p-1}$ is functorial, the diagram

is also commutative. Therefore the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} R^{p-1}F(GH(I)/GH(A)) \longrightarrow R^{p-1}F(GH(M)) \xrightarrow{r_{FG,H}^{p-1}(M) \circ r_{F,G}^{p-1}(H(M))} R^{p-1}(FGH)(M) \\ \downarrow \\ R^{p}F(GH(A)) \xrightarrow{r_{FG,H}^{p}(A) \circ r_{F,G}^{p}(H(A))} R^{p}(FGH)(A) \end{array}$$

is commutative. By induction, $r_{FG,H}^{p-1}(M) \circ r_{F,G}^{p-1}(H(M)) = r_{F,GH}^{p-1}(M)$. So by (b) by the induction. $r_{FG,H}^{p}(A) \circ r_{F,G}^{p}(H(A)) = r_{F,GH}^{p}(A)$. This proves (b).

Proposition 6.6. Suppose that \mathbb{A} , \mathbb{B} , \mathbb{C} , $F: \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{B}$ and $G: \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{B}$ satisfy Assumption 6.1. Let $a_{F,G}$: id $\to GH$ be the canonical adjoint functor. Then $n_{F,G}^p(A)$:

$$R^p F(A) \to R^p F(GH(A)) \xrightarrow{r_{F,G}^p(H(A))} R^p FG(H(A))$$

is a homomorphism of δ -functors, i.e, when $0 \to A \to B \to C \to 0$ is exact, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} R^{p-1}F(C) & \longrightarrow R^{p-1}FG(H(C)) \\ & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ R^pF(A) & \longrightarrow R^pFG(H(A)) \end{array}$$

is commutative.

Proof. If $0 \to A \to B \to C \to 0$ is exact, the following diagram is commutative.

where the right vertical map is induced by $a_{F,G}(C)$, i.e., $\bar{a}_{G,H}$ satisfies the following commutative diagram

$$(6.7) \qquad \qquad C \longrightarrow GH(B)/GH(A)$$

The diagram

is commutative. Moreover the diagram

(6.9)
$$R^{p-1}F(C) \longrightarrow R^{p-1}F(GH(B)/GH(A))$$
$$\downarrow \\ R^{p-1}F(GH(C)).$$

is commutative. So the statement follows.

Proposition 6.10. Let K be a field, K'/K a field extension, X = Spec(K) and X' = Spec(K'). Let $i: X' \to X$ be the morphism of schemes which corresponds to the inclusion map $K \to K'$. Suppose that F is the functor which associates to an étale sheaf \mathcal{F} on X the module of its sections $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{F})$ and that G is the functor $i_* : \mathbf{S}_{X'_{et}} \to \mathbf{S}_{X_{et}}$ (the direct image). Then $r^p_{F,G}(\mathcal{F}) : \mathrm{H}^p(X_{et}, i_*(\mathcal{F})) \to \mathrm{H}^p(X'_{et}, \mathcal{F})$ coincides with

(6.11)
$$\operatorname{H}^{p}(G_{K}, M_{G_{K}}^{\psi(G_{K'})}(N^{\operatorname{Ker}(\psi)})) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{H}^{p}(\psi(G_{K'}), N^{\operatorname{Ker}(\psi)}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Inf}} \operatorname{H}^{p}(G_{K'}, N)$$

where the first map is the isomorphism by Shapiro's Lemma. See [S1, p.13, I,§2 Proposition 10] for Shapiro's Lemma and [S2, p.116, VII, §5] for the definition of the inflation Inf.

Proof. The category $\mathbf{S}_{X_{et}}$ is equivalent to the category G_K -mod

(see [Me, p.53, II.Theorem.1.9]). If $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbf{S}_{X_{et}}$, corresponds to a G_K -module N, $i_*(\mathcal{F})$ corresponds to the induced module $M_{G_K}^{\psi(G_{K'})}(N^{\operatorname{Ker}(\psi)})$ (see [Me, p.69, II.Remarks 3.1 (e)] and also [S1, p.13, I, 2.5] for the notation). Then $r_{F,G}^p(\mathcal{F})$ and the homomorphism (6.11) satisfy Property 6.2. So the proof is complete.

Let X, Y be quasi-compact schemes such that every finite subset is contained in an affine open set. Let $f : Y \to X$ be a morphism of schemes and \mathcal{F} a sheaf on Y_{et} . If $\mathcal{U} = (U_i \to X)_{i \in I}$ is a covering of $X, \mathcal{U}' = (U_i \times_X Y \to Y)_{i \in I}$ is a covering of Y. So, the natural map from the Čech cohomology of $f_*(\mathcal{F})$ with respect to \mathcal{U} into the Čech cohomology of \mathcal{F} with respect to \mathcal{U}'

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathcal{U}/X, f_{*}(\mathcal{F})) \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathcal{U}'/Y, \mathcal{F})$$

is given. This map induces a map $\check{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(X, f_{*}(\mathcal{F})) \to \check{\mathrm{H}}^{p}(Y, \mathcal{F})$ from the Čech cohomology of $f_{*}(\mathcal{F})$ over X into the Čech cohomology of \mathcal{F} over X'. Čech étale cohomology groups agree with derived functor étale cohomology groups (see [Me, p.104, III, Theorem 2.17]). So the above map induces the map

(6.12)
$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(X, f_{*}(\mathcal{F})) \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(Y, \mathcal{F})$$

Then we have the following fact.

Proposition 6.13. Let the notations $X, Y, f : Y \to X$ and \mathcal{F} be the same as above. Then the homomorphism (6.12) coincides with $r_{F,G}^p$ where F is the functor which associates to an étale sheaf \mathcal{F} the module of its sections $\Gamma(X, \mathcal{F})$ and G is the direct image f_* .

Proof. This proposition also follows from Proposition 6.2.

Proposition 6.14. Let the notations $X, Y, f: Y \to X, \mathcal{F}, F$ and G be the same as above. Moreover, let k be a field and X = Spec(k). Then $r_{F,G}^p$ coincides with $r_{F',G'}^p$ where G' is $\Gamma(X \otimes_k k_s, \mathcal{F})$ and F' is the action of $G(k_s/k)$.

Corollary 6.15. Let k be a field. Then

$$\operatorname{Br}(k) = \operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_k).$$

Proof. It is easy to show that the natural map $\operatorname{Br}(k) \to \operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_k)$ is injective. So it is sufficient to show that this map is surjective. By the Hochschild-Serre spectral sequence $\operatorname{H}^p(G_k, \operatorname{H}^q(\mathbb{P}^1_{k_s}, \mathbb{G}_m)) \Rightarrow \operatorname{H}^n(\mathbb{P}^1_k, \mathbb{G}_m)$ (cf. [Me, p.105, III, Theorem 2.20]), we have the following exact sequence

(6.16)
$$\operatorname{Br}(k) \to \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_k) \to \operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_{k_s})\right) \to \operatorname{H}^1(k, \operatorname{Pic}(\mathbb{P}^1_{k_s}))$$

(cf, [Me, p.309, Appendix B]). Then the homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Br}(k) \to \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_k) \to \operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_{k_s})\right)$$

is the canonical map by Proposition 6.14 and Lemma 6.26. On the other, $\mathrm{H}^{1}(k, \mathrm{Pic}(\mathbb{P}^{1}_{k_{s}})) = \mathrm{H}^{1}(k, \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ because \mathbb{Z} is torsion free and $\mathrm{Br}(\mathbb{P}^{1}_{k_{s}}) = 0$ by [G, III, Corollary 5.8]. So the statement follows.

Suppose that Assumption 6.1 is satisfied. Let

$$0 \to A \to I^0 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}^0} I^1 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}^1} \cdots \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}^{p-1}} I^p \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}^p} I^{p+1} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}^{p+1}} \cdots$$

be an injective resolution of A. Then, by definition

$$R^{p}(FG)(A) = \operatorname{Ker}(FG(d^{p})) / \operatorname{Im}(FG(d^{p-1})),$$
$$R^{p}G(A) = \operatorname{Ker}(G(d^{p})) / \operatorname{Im}(G(d^{p-1})).$$

So

(6.17)
$$\operatorname{Im}(FG(d^{p-1})) \subset F(\operatorname{Im}(G(d^{p-1}))).$$

Since F is left exact functor, the natural map $F(\text{Ker}(G(d^p))) \to \text{Ker}(FG(d^p))$ is an isomorphism. Therefore we can define a homomorphism of functors

$$l^p_{F,G}(A) : R^p(FG)(A) \to F(R^pG(A))$$

so that the following diagram is commutative.

Note that $l_{F,G}^p(A)$ is well-defined by (6.17). Also since $\operatorname{Ker}(FG(d^p)) \to R^p(FG)(A)$ is surjective, this property characterizes $l_{F,G}^p(A)$.

Lemma 6.19. (a) If $0 \to A \to B \to C \to 0$ is an exact sequence, then the following diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} R^{p}(FG)(C) & \xrightarrow{\delta} R^{p+1}(FG)(A) \\ \downarrow_{F,G}^{l^{p}}(C) & & & \downarrow_{F,G}^{l^{p+1}}(A) \\ F(R^{p}G(C)) & \xrightarrow{F(\delta)} F(R^{p+1}(G)(A)) \end{array}$$

is commutative.

(b) Suppose that $H : \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$ takes injective objects to *G*-acyclic and *FG*-acyclic objects and that *GH* takes injective objects to *F*-acyclic objects. Then we have

$$l_{FG,H}^{p}(A) = F(l_{G,H}^{p}(A)) \circ l_{F,GH}^{p}(A).$$

Proof. We first prove the statement (a). Let

$$\begin{array}{c} 0 \to A \to I_A^0 \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_A^0}{\to} I_A^1 \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_A^1}{\to} \cdots \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_A^{p-1}}{\to} I_A^p \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_A^p}{\to} I_A^{p+1} \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_A^{p+1}}{\to} \cdots \\ 0 \to C \to I_C^0 \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_C^0}{\to} I_C^1 \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_C^1}{\to} \cdots \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_C^{p-1}}{\to} I_C^p \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_C^p}{\to} I_C^{p+1} \stackrel{\mathrm{d}_C^{p+1}}{\to} \cdots \end{array}$$

be injective resolutions of A and C. Let $I_A^p \to I_A^p \oplus I_C^p$, $I_A^p \oplus I_C^p \to I_C^p$ be the natural homomorphisms. Then there exists an injective resolution of B in the form

$$0 \to B \to I^0_A \oplus I^0_C \stackrel{\mathrm{d}^0_B}{\to} I^1_A \oplus I^1_C \stackrel{\mathrm{d}^1_B}{\to} I^1_A \oplus I^2_C \stackrel{\mathrm{d}^2_B}{\to} \cdots$$

which makes the following diagram

commutative (see [W, p.37, 2.2.8]).

Let $s^p: I^p_C \to I^p_A \oplus I^p_C$ be the natural homomorphism. Then there exists a homomorphism $\bar{\delta}: \operatorname{Ker}(d^p_C) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d^{p+1}_A)$ which makes the following diagram

commutative. Since G is left exact,

$$G(\operatorname{Ker}(d_C^p)) \simeq \operatorname{Ker}(G(d_C^p)), \qquad G(\operatorname{Ker}(d_A^{p+1})) \simeq \operatorname{Ker}(G(d_A^{p+1})).$$

Moreover $G(s^p)$ is also the natural homomorphism. So

is a commutative diagram by the construction of δ . Since F is left exact also, the diagram

is commutative. On the other hand, the diagram

is commutative as above. So the statement (a) follows from the above consideration.

We next prove the statement (b). Since the functor $H: \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$ takes injective objects to G-acyclic objects, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Ker}(GH(\mathrm{d}^p)) \xleftarrow{\simeq} G(\operatorname{Ker}(H(\mathrm{d}^p))) \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ R^p(GH)(A) \xrightarrow{l_{G,H}^p(A)} G(R^pH(A)) \end{array}$$

is commutative. By applying the functor $F: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$,

is commutative. Moreover, since $GH: \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{B}$ takes injective objects to F-acyclic objects, the diagram

is commutative. So the diagram

is commutative.

On the other hand, $H: \mathcal{D} \to \mathcal{C}$ takes injective objects to FG-acyclic objects, the diagram

is commutative. The statement (b) follows from the commutative diagrams (6.21) and (6.22). $\hfill \Box$

Remark 6.23. The functor $l_{F,G}^p(A)$: $R^p(FG)(A) \to F(R^pG(A))$ is characterized by the following properties.

- (1) $l_{F,G}^0(A) = \mathrm{id}_{FG(A)}$.
- (2) $l_{F,G}^p(A)$ satisfies the property of Lemma 6.19 (a).

Proposition 6.24. Let X be a connected regular scheme and g: Spec $(K) \to X$ the generic point. Let F be the functor $\mathcal{F} \to \Gamma(X, \mathcal{F})$ and G the direct image g_* . For $x \in X$, let \bar{x} be the spectrum of the separable closure $k(x)_s$ of k(x). Then we have

$$\operatorname{Ker}(l_{F,G}^{p}(\mathcal{F}')) = \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{H}^{p}(\operatorname{Spec}(K), \mathcal{F}') \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{x \in X} \operatorname{H}^{p}(\operatorname{Spec}(K_{\bar{x}}), \widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_{x})\right)$$

for any p > 0.

Proof. Let $u_x : \bar{x} \to x \hookrightarrow X$ be the composition of the canonical morphisms $\bar{x} \to x$ and $x \hookrightarrow X$, $\mathcal{F}' \in \mathbf{S}_{\text{Spec}(K)_{et}}$, $i_x : \text{Spec}(K_{\bar{x}}) \to \text{Spec}(K)$ the canonical morphism and $\widetilde{\mathcal{F}}'_x = i_x^* \mathcal{F}'$. Then the composition of the homomorphisms

(6.25)

$$H^{p}(\operatorname{Spec}(K), \mathcal{F}') \xrightarrow{l_{F,G}^{p}(\mathcal{F}')} \Gamma(X, R^{p}g_{*}(\mathcal{F}')) \to \Gamma(X, u_{x*}u_{x}^{*}(R^{p}g_{*}(\mathcal{F}'))) = R^{p}g_{*}(\mathcal{F}')_{\bar{x}} \simeq H^{p}(\operatorname{Spec}(K_{\bar{x}}), \widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_{x})$$

and the restriction map Res : $\mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathrm{Spec}(K), \mathcal{F}') \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathrm{Spec}(K_{\bar{x}}), \widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_{x})$ satisfy the following property which characterizes the homomorphism (see Remark 6.23).

- (1) $\mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathrm{Spec}(K), \mathcal{F}') \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(\mathrm{Spec}(K_{\bar{x}}), \widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_{x})$ is the natural map.
- (2) If $0 \to \mathcal{F}' \to \mathcal{F}'' \to \mathcal{F}''' \to 0$ is an exact sequence of $\mathbf{S}_{\text{Spec}(K)_{et}}$, the diagram

$$\begin{split} \mathrm{H}^p(\mathrm{Spec}\,(K),\mathcal{F}''') & \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(K),\mathcal{F}') \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ \mathrm{H}^p(\mathrm{Spec}\,(K_{\bar{x}}),\widetilde{\mathcal{F}''}_x) & \longrightarrow \delta \mathrm{H}^{p+1}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(K_{\bar{x}}),\widetilde{\mathcal{F}'}_x) \end{split}$$

is commutative.

So the homomorphism (6.25) coincides with the restriction map Res. Moreover $\mathcal{F} \to \prod_{x \in X} u_{x*} u_x^*(\mathcal{F})$ is injective for $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbf{S}_{X_{et}}$ (see [Me, p.90, Remark 1.20 (c)]). Therefore the proof is complete.

Lemma 6.26. (see [W, p.150, The Grothendieck spectral sequence 5.8.3]) Under Assumption 6.1, $r_{F,G}^{p}(\mathcal{F})$, $l_{F,G}^{p}(\mathcal{F})$ coincide with edge maps which are induced by the Grothendieck spectral sequence $\mathbb{R}^{p} F(\mathbb{R}^{q} G(\mathcal{F})) \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{p+q}(FG)(\mathcal{F})$.

Proof. The proof of Lemma 6.26 relates to the construction of the Grothendieck spectral sequence. So we review the proof of the Grothendieck spectral sequence ([W, p.150, 5.8.3]). Let $C^{*,*}$ be a double complex in an abelian category, i.e., $C^{*,*}$ has homomorphisms $d_b^{p,q}: C^{p,q} \to C^{p+1,q}$ and $d_v^{p,q}: C^{p,q} \to C^{p,q+1}$ satisfying

$$d_h^{p+1,q} d_h^{p,q} = 0, \qquad \qquad d_v^{p,q+1} d_v^{p,q} = 0, \qquad \qquad d_h^{p,q+1} d_v^{p,q} + d_v^{p+1,q} d_v^{p,q} = 0.$$

Then we can define the differential d_t^p of the total complex $(tot(C^{*,*}))_p = \bigoplus_{i+j=p} C^{i,j}$ as the homomorphism satisfying the following commutative diagram

Let $\mathrm{H}^{q}_{v}(C^{p,*}) = \mathrm{Ker}(d^{p,q}_{v}) / \mathrm{Im}(d^{p,q-1}_{v})$ and $\mathrm{H}^{p}_{h}(C^{*,q}) = \mathrm{Ker}(d^{p,q}_{h}) / \mathrm{Im}(d^{p-1,q}_{h})$. Then $d^{p,q}_{h}, d^{p,q}_{v}$ induce homomorphisms

$$\bar{d}_{h}^{p,q}: \mathrm{H}^{q}_{v}(C^{p,*}) \to \mathrm{H}^{q}_{v}(C^{p+1,*}), \qquad \qquad \bar{d}_{v}^{p,q}: \mathrm{H}^{p}_{h}(C^{*,q}) \to \mathrm{H}^{p}_{h}(C^{*,q+1}).$$

Let

Then there exist spectral sequences ([W, p.135, 5.5.1])

(6.27)
$${}_{I}E_{2}^{p,q} = H_{h}^{p} H_{v}^{q}(C^{*,*}) \Rightarrow H^{p+q}(tot(C^{*,*})),$$
$${}_{II}E_{2}^{p,q} = H_{v}^{p} H_{h}^{q}(C^{*,*}) \Rightarrow H^{p+q}(tot(C^{*,*})).$$

Note that $\operatorname{H}_{v}^{p}\operatorname{H}_{h}^{q}(C^{*,*}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\overline{d}_{v}^{q,p})/\operatorname{Im}(\overline{d}_{v}^{q,p-1})$. Also note that ${}_{\operatorname{I}}\operatorname{E}_{2}^{p,q}$ is a subquotient of $C^{p,q}$ whereas ${}_{\operatorname{II}}\operatorname{E}_{2}^{p,q}$ is a subquotient of $C^{q,p}$. Here the edge map $\operatorname{H}^{q}(\operatorname{tot}(C^{*,*})) \to \operatorname{H}_{h}^{0}\operatorname{H}_{v}^{q}(C^{*,*})$ of ${}_{\operatorname{I}}\operatorname{E}_{2}^{p,q} = \operatorname{H}_{h}^{p}\operatorname{H}_{v}^{q}(C^{*,*}) \Rightarrow \operatorname{H}^{p+q}(\operatorname{tot}(C^{*,*}))$ is induced by the natural homomorphism

$$\bigoplus_{i+j=q} C^{i,j} \to C^{0,q} \to C^{0,q} / \operatorname{Im}(d_v^{0,q-1})$$

and the edge map $\operatorname{H}_{h}^{p}\operatorname{H}_{v}^{0}(C^{*,*}) \to \operatorname{H}^{p}(\operatorname{tot}(C^{*,*}))$ of $_{\operatorname{I}}\operatorname{E}_{2}^{p,q} = \operatorname{H}_{h}^{p}\operatorname{H}_{v}^{q}(C^{*,*}) \Rightarrow \operatorname{H}^{p+q}(\operatorname{tot}(C^{*,*}))$ is induced by the natural homomorphism

(6.28)
$$\operatorname{Ker}(d_v^{p,0}) \to C^{p,0} \to \bigoplus_{i+j=p} C^{i,j}.$$

The edge map $\mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathrm{tot}(C^{*,*})) \to \mathrm{H}^{0}_{v} \mathrm{H}^{p}_{h}(C^{*,*})$ of $_{\mathrm{II}}\mathrm{E}^{p,q}_{2} = \mathrm{H}^{p}_{v} \mathrm{H}^{q}_{h}(C^{*,*}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathrm{tot}(C^{*,*}))$ is induced by the natural homomorphism

(6.29)
$$\bigoplus_{i+j=p} C^{i,j} \to C^{p,0} \to C^{p,0} / \operatorname{Im}(d_h^{p-1,0})$$

and the edge map $\operatorname{H}^p_v \operatorname{H}^0_h(C^{*,*}) \to \operatorname{H}^p(\operatorname{tot}(C^{*,*}))$ of $\operatorname{II} \operatorname{E}^{p,q}_2 = \operatorname{H}^p_v \operatorname{H}^q_h(C^{*,*}) \Rightarrow \operatorname{H}^{p+q}(\operatorname{tot}(C^{*,*}))$ is induced by the natural homomorphism

(6.30)
$$\operatorname{Ker}(d_h^{0,p}) \to C^{0,p} \to \bigoplus_{i+j=p} C^{i,j}$$

Let \mathcal{F} be an object of \mathcal{B} ,

$$0 \to \mathcal{F} \to I_{\mathcal{F}}^0 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{F}}^0} I_{\mathcal{F}}^1 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{F}}^1} I_{\mathcal{F}}^2 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{d}_{\mathcal{F}}^2} \cdots$$

an injective resolution of \mathcal{F} and $J_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}$ a Cartan-Eilenberg resolution of the complex $G(I_{\mathcal{F}}^*)$ (where

$$0 \to G(I_{\mathcal{F}}^p) \to J_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,0} \to J_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,1} \to \cdots$$

is an injective resolution of $G(I_{\mathcal{F}}^p)$), $d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}$: $J_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,q} \to J_{\mathcal{F}}^{p+1,q}$ the horizontal differential, $d_{\mathcal{F},v}^{p,q}$: $J_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,q} \to J_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,q+1}$ the vertical differential and $C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*} = F(J_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*})$. Note that the vertical (resp. the horizontal) differential $d_{\mathcal{F},v}^{p,q}$ (resp. $d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}$) of $C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}$ corresponds to $d_{v}^{p,q}$ (resp. $d_{h}^{p,q}$) of the above $C^{p,q}$.

We have two spectral sequences

$${}_{\mathrm{I}}\mathrm{E}_{2}^{p,q} = \mathrm{H}_{h}^{p} \mathrm{H}_{v}^{q}(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathrm{tot}(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*})),$$
$${}_{\mathrm{II}}\mathrm{E}_{2}^{p,q} = \mathrm{H}_{v}^{p} \mathrm{H}_{h}^{q}(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathrm{tot}(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*})).$$

Since $J_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}$ is a Cartan-Eilenberg resolution, $\operatorname{Im}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p-1,q})$, $\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q})$ and $\operatorname{H}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}) = \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}) / \operatorname{Im}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p-1,q})$ are injective objects. So exact sequences

(6.31)
$$0 \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}) \to C_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,q} \to \operatorname{Im}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p-1,q}) \to 0$$
$$0 \to \operatorname{Im}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p-1,q}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}) \to \operatorname{H}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}) \to 0$$

split and

$$\operatorname{Im}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q})) \simeq F(\operatorname{Im}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q})) \qquad F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}))/F(\operatorname{Im}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p-1,q})) \simeq F(\operatorname{H}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q})).$$

Therefore

(6.32)
$$\operatorname{Ker}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q}))/\operatorname{Im}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p-1,q})) \simeq F(\operatorname{H}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{p,q})).$$

It follows from the above isomorphism that the complex $\mathrm{H}_{h}^{q}(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}) = \mathrm{H}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{q,*}))$ is given by applying F to an injective resolution of $R^{q}G(\mathcal{F})$. So $_{\mathrm{II}}\mathrm{E}_{2}^{p,q} \cong \mathrm{R}^{p}F(\mathrm{R}^{q}G(\mathcal{F}))$.

On the other hand, since $G(I_{\mathcal{F}}^*)$ is F-acyclic objects, the complex $C_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,*}$ is exact and $\mathrm{H}^q_v(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}) = 0$ if q > 0. So $_{\mathrm{I}}\mathrm{E}_2^{p,0} \cong R^p(FG)(\mathcal{F})$ and $R^p(FG)(\mathcal{F}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^p(\mathrm{tot}(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}))$ through the edge map $\mathrm{H}^p_h \mathrm{H}^0_v(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}) \to \mathrm{H}^p(\mathrm{tot}(C_{\mathcal{F}}^{*,*}))$ of the first spectral sequence of (6.27). So we obtain a spectral sequence $\mathrm{R}^p F(\mathrm{R}^q G(\mathcal{F})) \Rightarrow \mathrm{R}^{p+q}(FG)(\mathcal{F})$, which is called the Grothendieck spectral sequence. By using the natural homomorphisms (6.28) and (6.29) we see that the edge map $R^n(FG)(\mathcal{F}) \to F(R^nG(\mathcal{F}))$ is induced by the natural homomorphism

(6.33)
$$\operatorname{Ker}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},v}^{n,0})) \to C_{\mathcal{F}}^{n,0}/\operatorname{Im}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n-1,0})).$$

It satisfies the following commutative diagram (6.34)

$$\operatorname{Ker}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},v}^{n,0})) \xrightarrow{(6.33)} C_{\mathcal{F}}^{n,0} / \operatorname{Im}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n-1,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusion map})} C_{\mathcal{F}}^{n,0} / \operatorname{Im}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n-1,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusion map})} \operatorname{Ker}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n,0})) = \operatorname{Ker}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},v}^{n,0})) \cap \operatorname{Ker}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusion map})} \operatorname{Ker}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n,0})) / \operatorname{Im}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n-1,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusion map})} \operatorname{Ker}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n,0})) / \operatorname{Im}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n-1,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusion map})} \operatorname{Ker}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},v}^{n,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusion map})} \operatorname{Ker}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n,0})) / \operatorname{Im}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n-1,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusion map})} \operatorname{Ker}(F(\bar{d}_{\mathcal{F},v}^{n,0})) \xrightarrow{(h \text{ in clusi$$

Moreover, the following diagrams

(6.36)
$$\operatorname{Ker}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},v}^{n,0})) / \operatorname{Im}(F(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n-1,0})) \xrightarrow{(6.32)} F(\operatorname{Ker}(G(\operatorname{d}_{\mathcal{F}}^{n})) / \operatorname{Im}(G(\operatorname{d}_{\mathcal{F}}^{n-1}))) \longrightarrow F(\operatorname{H}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{n,0}))$$

are commutative.

Since the homomorphism $F(R^nG(\mathcal{F})) \to F(\mathrm{H}(d^{n,0}_{\mathcal{F},h}))$ is injective, to show that the edge map $R^n(FG)(\mathcal{F}) \to F(R^nG(\mathcal{F}))$ coincides with $l^n_{F,G}(\mathcal{F})$, it suffices to show that the composition

$$F(\operatorname{Ker}(G(d^{n}_{\mathcal{F}}))) \to \operatorname{Ker}(FG(d^{n}_{\mathcal{F}})) \to R^{n}(FG)(\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{\text{the edge map}} F(R^{n}G(\mathcal{F})) \to F(\operatorname{H}(d^{n,0}_{\mathcal{F},h}))$$

coincides with

$$F(\operatorname{Ker}(G(\operatorname{d}^{n}_{\mathcal{F}}))) \to \operatorname{Ker}(FG(\operatorname{d}^{n}_{\mathcal{F}})) \to R^{n}(FG)(\mathcal{F}) \xrightarrow{l^{n}_{F,G}(\mathcal{F})} F(R^{n}G(\mathcal{F})) \to F(\operatorname{H}(d^{n,0}_{\mathcal{F},h}))$$

$$\stackrel{\text{c.f.}(6.18)}{=} F(\operatorname{Ker}(G(\operatorname{d}^{n}_{\mathcal{F}}))) \xrightarrow{\text{the natural homomorphism}} F(\operatorname{H}(d^{n,0}_{\mathcal{F},h})).$$

This follows from the above diagrams (6.34), (6.35) and (6.36).

Therefore this edge map agrees with $l_{F,G}^n(\mathcal{F})$.

We next prove that the edge map $R^p F(G(\mathcal{F})) \to R^p FG(\mathcal{F})$ coincides with $r_{F,G}^p(\mathcal{F})$. For that purpose it is sufficient to prove that the edge map satisfies (2) of Property 6.2. We prove Lemma 6.5 (a) which does not assume that \mathcal{F}_2 is an injective object and implies Property 6.2 (2) (which assumes that \mathcal{F}_2 is an injective object). Suppose that

$$0 \to \mathcal{F}_1 \xrightarrow{f} \mathcal{F}_2 \xrightarrow{g} \mathcal{F}_3 \to 0$$

is an exact sequence (\mathcal{F}_2 is not always an injective object) and that

$$0 \to \mathcal{F}_1 \to I^0_{\mathcal{F}_1} \to I^1_{\mathcal{F}_1} \to \cdots, \qquad \qquad 0 \to \mathcal{F}_3 \to I^0_{\mathcal{F}_3} \to I^1_{\mathcal{F}_3} \to \cdots$$

are injective resolutions of \mathcal{F}_1 and \mathcal{F}_3 . Then there exist an injective resolution of the form

$$0 \to \mathcal{F}_2 \to I^0_{\mathcal{F}_1} \oplus I^0_{\mathcal{F}_3} \to I^1_{\mathcal{F}_1} \oplus I^1_{\mathcal{F}_3} \to \cdots$$

and chain maps $f_1^*: I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^* \to I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^* \oplus I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^*, g_1^*: I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^* \oplus I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^* \to I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^*$ lifting f and g. Then

$$0 \to I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^* \xrightarrow{f_1^*} I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^* \oplus I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^* \xrightarrow{g_1^*} I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^* \to 0$$

is an exact sequence by the Horseshoe Lemma [W, p.37, 2.2.8].

Moreover suppose that $G(I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^p) \to J_{\mathcal{F}_1}^{p,*}$, $G(I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^p) \to J_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{p,*}$ are Cartan-Eilenberg resolutions of $G(I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^p)$ and $G(I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^p)$. Then there exist a Cartan-Eilenberg resolution $G(I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^p) \oplus G(I_{\mathcal{F}_3}^p) \to J_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{p,*}$ and homomorphisms of double complexes $f_2^{p,q}$: $J_{\mathcal{F}_1}^{p,q} \to J_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{p,q}$, $g_2^{p,q}$: $J_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{p,q} \to J_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{p,q}$ lifting f_1^p and g_1^p for all p, q such that

(6.37)
$$0 \to J^{p,q}_{\mathcal{F}_1} \xrightarrow{f^{p,q}_2} J^{p,q}_{\mathcal{F}_2} \xrightarrow{g^{p,q}_2} J^{p,q}_{\mathcal{F}_3} \to 0$$

is exact. Since $J_{\mathcal{F}_1}^{p,q}, J_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{p,q}$ are injective objects, it splits and there exists a section $s_g^{p,q}$: $J_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{p,q} \to J_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{p,q}$ of $g_2^{p,q}$. Let $C_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{p,q} = F(J_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{p,q})$ and $C_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{p,q} = F(J_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{p,q})$ as above. Then the homomorphism $\bar{\delta}_t^{p,q}$

$$C^{p,q}_{\mathcal{F}_3} \xrightarrow{F(s^{p,q}_g)} C^{p,q}_{\mathcal{F}_2} \xrightarrow{F(d^{p,q}_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}) \oplus F(d^{p,q}_{\mathcal{F}_2,v})} C^{p+1,q}_{\mathcal{F}_2} \oplus C^{p,q+1}_{\mathcal{F}_2}$$

induces the connecting homomorphism $\delta : \mathrm{H}^{n}(\mathrm{tot}(\mathcal{F}_{3})) \to \mathrm{H}^{n+1}(\mathrm{tot}(\mathcal{F}_{1})).$ On the other hand, since $G(I^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}) \to J^{p,*}_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}, G(I^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}}) \to J^{p,*}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}}$ are Cartan-Eilenberg resolutions of $G(I^{*}_{\mathcal{F}_{1}})$ and $G(I^{*}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}})$ and the exact sequence (6.37) splits, rows and columns of the commutative diagram

$$(6.38) \qquad \begin{array}{c} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 \longrightarrow G(\mathcal{F}_1) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,0}_{\mathcal{F}_1,h}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,1}_{\mathcal{F}_1,h}) \longrightarrow \cdots \\ \downarrow & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ 0 \longrightarrow G(\mathcal{F}_2) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,0}_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,1}_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}) \longrightarrow \cdots \end{array}$$

are exact. Let f_3^p : $\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_1,h}^{0,p}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p})$ be the homomorphism which is induced by the homomorphism $f_2^{0,p}$: $I_{\mathcal{F}_1}^{0,p} \to I_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{0,p}$. Since $\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_1,h}^{0,p})$, $\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p})$ are injective objects, the exact sequence

(6.39)
$$0 \to \operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{1,h}}) \xrightarrow{f^p_3} \operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2,h}}) \to \operatorname{Coker}(f^p_3) \to 0$$

splits and $\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)$ is an injective object. Then

(6.41)

(6.40)
$$0 \to G(\mathcal{F}_2)/G(\mathcal{F}_1) \to \operatorname{Coker}(f_3^0) \to \operatorname{Coker}(f_3^1) \to \cdots$$

which is induced by the commutative diagram (6.38) is an injective resolution of $G(\mathcal{F}_2)/G(\mathcal{F}_1)$. The reason is the following. Let

$$A^{0} = \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_{1},h}^{0,0}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_{1},h}^{0,1})) = \operatorname{Coker}(G(\mathcal{F}_{1}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_{1},h}^{0,0})),$$

$$B^{0} = \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_{2},h}^{0,0}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_{2},h}^{0,1})) = \operatorname{Coker}(G(\mathcal{F}_{2}) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_{2},h}^{0,0})),$$

$$C^{0} = \operatorname{Im}(\operatorname{Coker}(f_{3}^{0}) \to \operatorname{Coker}(f_{3}^{1})).$$

Then the homomorphism $B^0 \to C^0$ is surjective. Moreover, by chasing the diagram

whose rows and columns are exact except for the far left column and the bottom row, we see that the sequence

$$0 \to A^0 \to B^0 \to C^0$$

is exact. Therefore, it follows from the 3-3 lemma (see [W], p.11, Exercise 1.3.2) that the sequence

$$0 \to G(\mathcal{F}_2)/G(\mathcal{F}_1) \to \operatorname{Coker}(f_3^0) \to C^0 \to 0$$

is exact. So the sequence (6.40) is an injective resolution of $G(\mathcal{F}_2)/G(\mathcal{F}_1)$ by induction.

Since the exact sequence (6.39) splits, there exists a section s_h^p : $\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p) \to \operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p})$ of the natural map $\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p}) \to \operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)$. Then we have the homomorphism $\overline{\delta}^p$ which satisfies the following diagram

$$\begin{array}{c|c} F(\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)) & \xrightarrow{\bar{\delta}^p} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_1,h}^{0,p+1})) \\ & & \downarrow \\ F(s_h^p) & & \downarrow \\ F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p})) & \xrightarrow{F(\tilde{d}_{\mathcal{F}_2,v}^{0,p})} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p+1})) \end{array}$$

where $\tilde{d}^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_2,v}$ is induced from $d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_2,v}$. Moreover $\bar{\delta}^p$ induces the connecting homomorphism

$$R^p F(G(\mathcal{F}_2)/G(\mathcal{F}_1)) \to R^{p+1} F(G(\mathcal{F}_1)).$$

For all $\mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{C}$, we denote by $i_{\mathcal{F}}^p$ the natural inclusion map $F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F},h}^{0,p})) \hookrightarrow C_{\mathcal{F}}^{0,p}$. Let j^p be the natural inclusion map $F(\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)) \hookrightarrow F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_3,h}^{0,p}))$. Then, since the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2},h})) \longrightarrow C^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2}} \\ & \downarrow & \downarrow \\ F(\operatorname{Coker}(f^{p}_{3})) \longrightarrow C^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}} \end{array}$$

is commutative, the homomorphism

(6.42)
$$F(\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)) \xrightarrow{F(s_h^p)} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p})) \xrightarrow{i_{\mathcal{F}_2}^p} C_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{0,p} \xrightarrow{F(g_2^{0,p})} C_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{0,p}$$

coincides with the homomorphism

(6.43)
$$F(\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)) \xrightarrow{F(s_h^p)} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p})) \to F(\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)) \xrightarrow{j^p} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_3,h}^{0,p})) \xrightarrow{i_{\mathcal{F}_3}^p} C_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{0,p}.$$

Also, since $F(s_h^p)$ is a section of the natural homomorphism

$$F(\operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_2,h})) \to F(\operatorname{Coker}(f^p_3)),$$

the homomorphism (6.43) coincides with the homomorphism

(6.44)
$$F(\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)) \xrightarrow{j^p} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_3,h}^{0,p})) \xrightarrow{i_{\mathcal{F}_3}^p} C_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{0,p}.$$

Moreover, since $F(s_g^{0,p})$ is a section of the homomorphism $F(g_2^{0,p})$, the homomorphism (6.44) coincides with the homomorphism

(6.45)
$$F(\operatorname{Coker}(f_3^p)) \xrightarrow{j^p} F(\operatorname{Ker}(d_{\mathcal{F}_3,h}^{0,p}))) \xrightarrow{i_{\mathcal{F}_3}^p} C_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{0,p} \xrightarrow{F(s_g^{0,p})} C_{\mathcal{F}_2}^{0,p} \xrightarrow{F(g_2^{0,p})} C_{\mathcal{F}_3}^{0,p}.$$

So the homomorphism (6.42) coincides with (6.45). Then

$$\operatorname{Im}(F(s_g^{0,p}) \circ i_{\mathcal{F}_3}^p \circ j^p - i_{\mathcal{F}_2}^p \circ F(s_h^p)) \subset C_{\mathcal{F}_1}^{0,p}$$

by the above relation. Then

$$(F(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2},v}) \circ F(s^{0,p}_{g})) \circ i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}} \circ j^{p} - i^{p+1}_{\mathcal{F}_{1}} \circ \bar{\delta^{p}}$$

= $F(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2},v}) \circ (F(s^{0,p}_{g}) \circ i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}} \circ j^{p} - i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2}} \circ F(s^{p}_{h}))$
= $F(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{1},v}) \circ (F(s^{0,p}_{g}) \circ i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}} \circ j^{p} - i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2}} \circ F(s^{p}_{h}))$

Moreover since $\operatorname{Im}(i_{\mathcal{F}_2}^p \circ F(s_h^p)) \subset \operatorname{Ker}(F(d_{\mathcal{F}_2,h}^{0,p})),$

$$(F(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2},h}) \circ F(s^{0,p}_{g})) \circ i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}} \circ j^{p}$$

= $F(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2},h}) \circ (F(s^{0,p}_{g}) \circ i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}} \circ j^{p} - i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2}} \circ F(s^{p}_{h}))$
= $F(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_{1},h}) \circ (F(s^{0,p}_{g}) \circ i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{3}} \circ j^{p} - i^{p}_{\mathcal{F}_{2}} \circ F(s^{p}_{h})).$

Let $i_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,q}: C_{\mathcal{F}}^{p,q} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{i+j=p+q} C_{\mathcal{F}}^{i,j}$ be the natural inclusion map. Then

$$\operatorname{Im}(\bar{\delta}_{t}^{0,p} \circ i_{\mathcal{F}_{3}}^{p} \circ j^{p} - i_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{0,p+1} \circ i_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{p+1} \circ \bar{\delta}^{p}) \\ \subset \operatorname{Im}\left((F(d_{\mathcal{F}_{1},h}^{0,p}) \oplus F(d_{\mathcal{F}_{1},v}^{0,p}))\right) \\ = \operatorname{Im}(F(d_{\mathcal{F}_{1},t}^{p}) \circ i_{\mathcal{F}_{1}}^{0,p})$$

Moreover, the homomorphism

$$F(\operatorname{Ker}(d^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_1,h})) \stackrel{i^p_{\mathcal{F}_1}}{\hookrightarrow} C^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_1} \stackrel{i^{0,p}_{\mathcal{F}_1}}{\hookrightarrow} \bigoplus_{i+j=p} C^{i,j}_{\mathcal{F}_1}$$

which corresponds to the natural homomorphism (6.30) induces the edge map

$$\mathrm{H}^p_v \mathrm{H}^0_h(C^{*,*}_{\mathcal{F}_1}) \to \mathrm{H}^p(\mathrm{tot}(C^{*,*}_{\mathcal{F}_1})).$$

 $\bar{\delta}^{0,p}_t \circ i^p_{\mathcal{F}_3} \circ j^p$ corresponds to the homomorphism

$$R^p F(G(\mathcal{F}_2/G(\mathcal{F}_1))) \to R^p F(G(\mathcal{F}_3)) \to R^p (FG)(\mathcal{F}_3) \to R^{p+1}(FG)(\mathcal{F}_1)$$

and $i_{\mathcal{F}_1}^{0,p+1} \circ i_{\mathcal{F}_1}^{p+1} \circ \bar{\delta}^p$ corresponds to the homomorphism

$$R^p F(G(\mathcal{F}_2/G(\mathcal{F}_1))) \to R^{p+1}F(G(\mathcal{F}_1)) \to R^{p+1}(FG)(\mathcal{F}_1).$$

This means that the edge map satisfies (2) of Property 6.2.

The proof of the main result 7

This section make reference to [Me, pp.106-107, III, Example 2.22]. Let X be a regular integral quasi-compact scheme and $g: \operatorname{Spec}(K) \to X$ the generic point. For $v \in X^{(1)}$, let $i_v: v \hookrightarrow X$ be the canonical map and $D_X = \bigoplus i_{v*}(\mathbb{Z})$. Then, we have the exact

sequence

(7.1)
$$0 \to \mathbb{G}_m \to g_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,K}) \to \mathcal{D}_X \to 0$$

so that we have the long exact sequence of étale cohomology

(7.2)
$$\cdots \to \operatorname{H}^{n}(X, \mathbb{G}_{m}) \to \operatorname{H}^{n}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})) \to \operatorname{H}^{n}(X, D_{X}) \to \cdots$$

Using the Leray spectral sequence

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(X, \mathrm{R}^{q}i_{v*}(\mathbb{Z})) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathrm{Spec}(\kappa(v)), \mathbb{Z})$$

for $i_v: v \hookrightarrow X$, we have the injective homomorphism $\mathrm{H}^1(X, i_{v*}(\mathbb{Z})) \to \mathrm{H}^1(\mathrm{Spec}(\kappa(v)), \mathbb{Z}).$ On the other hand, since \mathbb{Z} has no finite subgroups,

$$\mathrm{H}^{1}(\mathrm{Spec}(\kappa(v)),\mathbb{Z}) = \mathrm{Hom}_{\mathrm{conts}}(G_{\kappa(v)},\mathbb{Z}) = 0$$

where Hom_{conts} is the set of continuous homomorphisms. So $H^1(X, D_X) = 0$ and $R^1 i_{v*}(\mathbb{Z}) =$ 0. Also, since \mathbb{Q} is uniquely divisible, $\mathrm{H}^r(\kappa(v), \mathbb{Q}) = 0$ for any r > 0. So $\mathrm{H}^r(\kappa(v), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) =$ $\mathrm{H}^{r-1}(\kappa(v),\mathbb{Z})$. Therefore, we have the exact sequence

(7.3)
$$0 \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(X, \mathbb{G}_{m}) \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})) \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(X, \mathrm{D}_{X})$$

and

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, \mathrm{D}_{X}) \hookrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{2}(\kappa(v), \mathbb{Z}) = \mathrm{H}^{1}(\kappa(v), \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}) = X(G(\kappa(v)_{s}/\kappa(v))).$$

Moreover, $\mathrm{H}^{p}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m,K}))$ can be expressed by a group cohomology in the following Lemmas 7.4 and 7.8.

Lemma 7.4. Let X be a regular integral quasi-compact scheme, K = R(X) and g: Spec $K \to X$ the generic point of X. Then

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Res}} \prod_{x \in X_{(0)}} \mathrm{Br}(K_{\bar{x}})\right)$$

Proof. In general, for a spectral sequence $E_2^{p,q} \Rightarrow H^{p+q}$, we have the exact sequence

$$E_2^{0,1} \to E_2^{2,0} \xrightarrow{\text{the edge map}} E_1^2 \to E_2^{1,1}$$

where $E_1^2 = \operatorname{Ker}(H^2 \to E_2^{0,2})$. Since

(7.5)
$$\mathbf{R}^1 g_*(\mathbb{G}_m) = 0$$

by [Me, p.89, III, Remark 1.17 (a)] and Hilbert Theorem 90, considering (7.5) for the Leray spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} = \mathrm{H}^p(X, \mathrm{R}^q g_*(\mathbb{G}_m)) \Rightarrow \mathrm{H}^{p+q}(\mathrm{Spec}(K), \mathbb{G}_m),$$

we see that

$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{H}^{2}(\mathrm{Spec}(K), \mathbb{G}_{m}) \to \mathrm{H}^{0}(X, \mathrm{R}^{2}g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m}))\right).$$

Therefore, we have

(7.6)
$$\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})) = \mathrm{Ker}\left(\mathrm{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Res}} \prod_{x \in X} \mathrm{Br}(K_{\bar{x}})\right)$$

by Proposition 6.24 and Lemma 6.26.

Moreover, it follows from the definition of the étale neighborhood of \bar{x} ([Me, p.38, I, Remark 4.11]) and the fact that a flat morphism satisfies the going-down theorem [M, Theorem 9.5] that $K_{\bar{x}} \subset K_{\bar{y}}$ for $x \in \{\bar{y}\}$. Therefore, we can replace $x \in X$ by $x \in X_{(0)}$ in (7.6). So the proof is complete.

Remark 7.7. Suppose that A is a regular integral domain with dim(A) = 1 which contains a field k and m is a positive integer with (ch(k), m) = 1. For $x \in \text{Spec}(A)$, $Br(K_{\bar{x}})_m = 0$ (cf, [S1, p.111, Appendix, §2]). Therefore

$$\operatorname{Br}(K)_m \subset \operatorname{H}^2(X, g_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})).$$

Moreover, suppose that k is a perfect field. Then

$$Br(K) = H^2(X, g_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,K}))$$

by Lang's theorem [S2, p.162, X, $\S7$].

Lemma 7.8. Let A be a Henselian discrete valuation ring, K its quotient field, k its residue field and K_{nr} its maximal unramified extension. Then

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(A), g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m})) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(K_{nr}/K, (K_{nr})^{*})$$

for any p > 0.

Proof. Let $i: \operatorname{Spec}(k) \to \operatorname{Spec}(A)$ be the natural map. Then, i_* is exact. Let (set) be the class of all separated étale morphisms and $f: X_{et} \to X_{set}$ the continuous morphism which is induced by identity map on X. Then f_* is exact by [Me, p.112, (b) of Examples 3.4]. Let (fet) be the class of all finite étale morphisms and $f': X_{set} \to X_{fet}$ the continuous morphism which is induced by identity map on X.

Let $Y \to X$ be a separated étale morphism with Y connected, R(Y) the ring of rational functions of $Y, A \to B$ the normalization of A in R(Y) and X' = Spec(B). Then R(Y)/K is a finite separable extension and Y is an open subscheme of X' by [Me, p.29, I, Theorem 3.20]. Moreover $X' \to X$ is finite by [Me, p.4, I, Proposition 1.1]. Then,

since A is a Henselian discrete valuation ring, B is a Henselian discrete valuation ring by [Me, p.33, I, (b) of Theorem 4.2] and [Me, p.34, I, Corollary 4.3]. Also R(X')/R(X) is an unramified extension. Therefore f'_* is exact by [Me, p.111, III, Proposition 3.3]. So $f'_* \circ f_*$ is exact and

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}_{fet}(X, (f' \circ f)_{*}(\mathcal{F})) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p}_{et}(X, \mathcal{F})$$

for any $\mathcal{F} \in \mathbb{S}_{X_{et}}$.

We have the isomorphism G_{K} -mod $\simeq \mathbb{S}_{\text{Spec}(K)_{et}}$ by [Me, p.53, II.§1, Theorem 1.9]. Let the functor N be defined as

$$(G_K\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}}) \ni M \longmapsto M^{\operatorname{Gal}(K_s/K_{nr})} \in (G_k\operatorname{-\mathbf{mod}})$$

and $N' : \mathbb{S}_{\text{Spec}(K)_{et}} \to \mathbb{S}_{\text{Spec}(k)_{et}}$ the functor which corresponds to N. Let $Y'' \in X_{fet}$ be connected. Moreover, let K'' = R(Y'') and k'' the finite extension field of k which corresponds to the closed point of Y''. Then

$$N'(F)(\operatorname{Spec}(k'')) = F(\operatorname{Spec}(K''))$$

for $F \in \mathbb{S}_{\text{Spec}(K)_{et}}$ because

$$G(K_{nr}/K'') \simeq G_{k''}, \quad G(K_{nr}/K'') \simeq G_{K''}/G_{K_{nr}}$$

Therefore the diagram

is commutative. So

$$\begin{aligned} \mathrm{H}_{et}^{p}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m})) &= \mathrm{H}_{fet}^{p}(X, f' \circ f \circ g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m})) \\ &= \mathrm{H}_{fet}^{p}(X, f' \circ f \circ i_{*}(N'(\mathbb{G}_{m}))) \\ &= \mathrm{H}_{et}^{p}(X, i_{*}(N'(\mathbb{G}_{m}))) \\ &= \mathrm{H}_{et}^{p}(\operatorname{Spec}(k), N'(\mathbb{G}_{m})) \\ &= \mathrm{H}^{p}(k, (K_{nr})^{*}) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(K_{nr}/K, (K_{nr})^{*}) \end{aligned}$$

Hence the proof is complete.

Remark 7.9. Let A be a Henselian discrete valuation ring, K its quotient field and K_{nr} the maximal unramified extension of K and X = Spec(A).

For any p > 0, the following diagram

is commutative where two downward morphisms are the edge maps of spectral sequences. So it follows from Lemma 7.8 that the exact sequence (7.3) corresponds to the exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(A) \xrightarrow{(\alpha)} \operatorname{Ker} \left(\operatorname{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \operatorname{Br}(K_{nr}) \right) \xrightarrow{(\beta)} \operatorname{H}^2(k, \mathbb{Z})$$

where (α) is the map which is induced by the natural map $\operatorname{Br}(A) \to \operatorname{Br}(K)$ and (β) is the composition of the isomorphism $\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \operatorname{Br}(K_{nr})\right) = \operatorname{H}^2(k, (K_{nr})^*)$ [S2, p.156, X, Corollary of Proposition 6] and the map $\operatorname{H}^p(k, (K_{nr})^*) \to \operatorname{H}^p(k, \mathbb{Z})$ which is induced by the discrete valuation of A.

Corollary 7.11. We consider the situation of Lemma 7.8. Let \widehat{A}, \widehat{K} be the completions of A, K and k the residue field of A and \widehat{A} . Then

$$H^{p}(K_{nr}/K, (K_{nr})^{*}) = H^{p}(\widehat{K}_{nr}/\widehat{K}, (\widehat{K}_{nr})^{*})$$
$$= H^{p}(k, (k_{s})^{*}) \oplus H^{p-1}(k, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z})$$

for any p > 0.

Proof. We have

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(A),\mathbb{G}_{m}) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(k),\mathbb{G}_{m}) = \mathrm{H}^{p}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(A),\mathbb{G}_{m})$$

by [Me, p.116, III, Remark 3.11 (a)]. Corollary 7.11 follows from this fact and the fact that the exact sequence (7.2) splits (because there is a section of the homomorphism

$$\mathrm{H}^{p}(k, (K_{nr})^{*}) \to \mathrm{H}^{p}(k, \mathbb{Z}) = \mathrm{H}^{p-1}(k, \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}),$$

cf, [S2, p.186, XII, §3, Proposition 4]).

For a regular ring A and $x \in \operatorname{Spec} A^{(1)}$, let

(7.12)
$$\operatorname{Br}(A) \to \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{x \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(K_{\bar{x}})\right)$$

be the homomorphism which is induced by the natural map and

(7.13)
$$\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{x \in \operatorname{Spec}(A)^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(K_{\bar{x}})\right) \to \bigoplus_{x \in \operatorname{Spec}(A)^{(1)}} \operatorname{X}(G_{\kappa(x)})$$

the homomorphism which satisfies the following commutative diagram

where the homomorphism (*) is induced by the natural map $Br(K) \to Br(\widehat{K}_x)$ and the homomorphism (**) is induced by the valuation (see [S2, p.186, XII, Proposition 4]). Then, the following result follows from Lemmas 7.4, 7.8.

Proposition 7.14. Let A be an integral domain of finite type over a field k such that $A \otimes \bar{k}$ is regular, i.e., Spec (A) is smooth over k, K the quotient field of A and X = Spec(A). Then the sequence

(7.15)
$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(A) \xrightarrow{(7.12)} \operatorname{Ker} \left(\operatorname{Br}(K) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{x \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(K_{\bar{x}}) \right) \xrightarrow{(7.13)} \prod_{x \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{X}(G_{\kappa(x)})$$

is exact. Moreover, if an integer m is respectively prime to ch(k), there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(A)_m \to \operatorname{Br}(K)_m \to \prod_{x \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{X}(G_{\kappa(x)})_m$$

Proof. Suppose that A is a 1 dimensional regular ring which contains a field k (A does not have to be smooth). Then the exact sequence (7.15) is given by the exact sequence (7.3) as follows. Proposition 6.13 shows that the first map of (7.3) coincides with the homomorphism (7.12).

Now, for $x \in X^{(1)}, \widehat{X}_x$ denotes Spec \widehat{A}_x . Then, let

$$i_x : \operatorname{Spec}(\kappa(x)) \to X, \qquad \qquad \widehat{i_x} : \operatorname{Spec}(\kappa(x)) \to \widehat{X}_x$$

be the canonical maps,

$$g: \operatorname{Spec}(K) \to X, \qquad \qquad \widehat{g}_x: \operatorname{Spec}(K_x) \to X_x$$

the generic point, and j_x^K : Spec $(\widehat{K}_x) \to$ Spec (K) (resp. j_x^A : Spec $(\widehat{A}_x) \to$ Spec (A)) the morphisms of schemes which correspond to the extension of field \widehat{K}_x/K (resp. the extension of ring \widehat{A}_x/A).

We have the following commutative diagram (7.16)



where the vertical arrows of (*) are induced by the natural map $\mathbb{G}_{m,K} \to (j_x^K)_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,\widehat{K}})$ and (γ) is the natural map. It follows from Proposition 6.10 that the diagram (**) is commutative. The reason why the diagram (* * *) is commutative is that the left side of (* * *) is the edge map $\mathrm{H}^2(X, g_*((j_x^K)_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,\widehat{K}}))) \to \mathrm{H}^2(\widehat{K}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\widehat{K}})$ and the right side of (* * *) is the edge map $\mathrm{H}^2(X, (j_x^A)_*((\widehat{g}_x)_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,\widehat{K}}))) \to \mathrm{H}^2(\widehat{K}, \mathbb{G}_{m,\widehat{K}})$ by Lemma 6.5 (b). Therefore the composition $\mathrm{H}^2(X, g_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,K})) \to \mathrm{H}^2(\widehat{X}_x, (\widehat{g}_x)_*(\mathbb{G}_{m,\widehat{K}}))$ in (7.16) corresponds to the homomorphism (γ). Also, the diagram

is commutative. So the homomorphism (7.13) coincides with the homomorphism $\mathrm{H}^{2}(X, g_{*}(\mathbb{G}_{m})) \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(X, (i_{x})_{*}(\mathbb{Z}))$ in the exact sequence (7.2) by commutative diagrams (7.10), (7.16), (7.17). In general, if Spec (A) is smooth over k (Spec A is not necessarily of dimension 1), $\mathrm{Br}(A) = \bigcap_{\mathfrak{p}\in \mathrm{Spec}\,(A)^{(1)}} \mathrm{Br}(A_{\mathfrak{p}})$ by [H, Corollary.2]. Therefore (7.15) is an exact sequence. \Box

Remark 7.18. Let X be a regular integral quasi-compact scheme. Then the sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(X) \to \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(R(X)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{x \in X_{(0)}} \operatorname{Br}(R(\mathcal{O}_{X,\bar{x}}))\right) \to \bigoplus_{x \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{X}(G_{\kappa(x)})$$

is exact by the proof of Proposition 7.14.

Corollary 7.19. Let X be a 1-dimensional connected regular scheme, K its quotient field. Then

(7.20)
$$0 \longrightarrow \operatorname{Br}(X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Br}(K) \longrightarrow \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}}) / \operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}})$$

is exact.

Proof. Let \mathcal{O} be a discrete valuation ring, $K = R(\mathcal{O}), X = \text{Spec}(\mathcal{O})$ and x the closed

point of X. Then we have the following commutative diagram

where the vertical sequences are exact and the horizontal ones are exact except for the middle horizontal sequence. So the middle horizontal sequence is exact. \Box

An alternative proof of Corollary 7.19. Suppose that B is a discrete valuation ring, L is its quotient field, $Y = \operatorname{Spec} B$ and $Z = Y \setminus \operatorname{Spec} L = \{\mathfrak{p}\}$. Then we have the exact sequence

(7.21)
$$\operatorname{H}^{p}(Y, \mathbb{G}_{m}) \to \operatorname{H}^{p}(\operatorname{Spec} L, \mathbb{G}_{m}) \to \operatorname{H}^{p+1}_{Z}(Y, \mathbb{G}_{m})$$

by [Me, p.92, III, Proposition 1.25] and $\mathrm{H}^{2}(Y, \mathbb{G}_{m}) \to \mathrm{H}^{2}(\mathrm{Spec}\, L, \mathbb{G}_{m})$ is injective by [Me, p.145, IV, §2]. Moreover we have

(7.22)
$$\mathrm{H}^{p}_{Z}(Y, \mathbb{G}_{m}) \simeq \mathrm{H}^{p}_{\{\mathfrak{p}\}}(\mathrm{Spec}\,(\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{Y, \mathfrak{p}}), \mathbb{G}_{m})$$

by [Me, p.93, III, Corollary 1.28]. Also, the diagram

is commutative. Therefore

$$\operatorname{Br}(K)/\operatorname{Br}(\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathfrak{p}}) \to \operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}})/\operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{\mathcal{O}}_{X,\mathfrak{p}})$$

is injective. So the statement follows from [G, p.77, II, Proposition 2.3].

Moreover, we obtain the following result.

Corollary 7.23. Let X be an algebraic curve over a separably closed field such that regular and proper. Then, the local-global map

$$\operatorname{Br}(R(X)) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in X^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{R(X)}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

is injective.

Proof. The statement follows from Corollary 7.19 and [G, III, Corollary 5.8].

We use the following lemmas in the proof of the main result.

Lemma 7.24. Let A, B, C be commutative groups and c a group homomorphism from C into $A \oplus B$. Let a, b be the projections from $A \oplus B$ to A, B. Moreover, let i be an inclusion map from Ker $(a \circ c)$ into C. Then

$$\operatorname{Ker}(c) = \operatorname{Ker}(b \circ c \circ i).$$

Lemma 7.25. Let A, B, C be commutative groups and $f : A \to B$ be a group homomorphism. We assume that $\text{Ker}(f) \subset C \subset A$. Let $i : C \to A$ be the inclusion map. Then

$$\operatorname{Ker}(f) = \operatorname{Ker}(f \circ i).$$

We also need the following propositions.

Proposition 7.26. (See [YS] or [Me, pp.153-154, IV, Exercise 2.20 (d)]) Let K be the quotient field of the Henselization of $k[t]_{(t)}$. Then, there is an exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(k[t]) \to \operatorname{Br}(K) \to \operatorname{X}(G_k) \to 0$$

where the first map is induced by $t \mapsto t^{-1}$.

We now prove the main result.

Theorem 7.27. For any field k, let k(t) be the purely transcendental extension field in one variable t over k. Then, the local-global map

(7.28)
$$\operatorname{Br}(k(t)) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbf{P}_k^{1(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(\widehat{k(t)}_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

is injective.

Proof. It is known that a finitely generated ring over an excellent ring and its localization are excellent ([EGA, §7.8]). Also, a discrete valuation ring is excellent if and only if its Henselization is excellent (see [Me, I, Remark 1.2]). So, it follows from Proposition 3.9 that the kernel of the local-global map

(7.29)
$$\operatorname{Br}(k(t)) \to \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbf{P}_k^{1(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\mathfrak{p}})$$

is equal to the kernel of the local-global map (7.28). Since we have the restriction map $\operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{k(t)}_{\mathfrak{p}}) \to \operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})$, it follows from Lemma 7.25 that the kernel of the local-global map (7.29) is equal to the kernel of the local-global map (7.29) restricted to

$$\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(k(t)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Spec}(k[t])^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})\right).$$

For the rest of this section, we denote the point which corresponds to $(\frac{1}{t}) \in \text{Spec}(k[\frac{1}{t}]) \subset \mathbf{P}_k^1$ by ∞ . Note that

$$\left(\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in\operatorname{Spec}\,(k[t])^{(1)}}\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{k(t)}_{\mathfrak{p}})\stackrel{\operatorname{Res}}{\to}\operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})\right)\right)\oplus\operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{k(t)}_{\infty})$$

contains the image of the composition of the inclusion map

$$\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(k(t)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Spec}(k[t])^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})\right) \to \operatorname{Br}(k(t))$$

and the local-global map (7.29).

In Lemma 7.24, let

$$C = \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(k(t)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Spec}(k[t])^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})\right) \qquad B = \operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{k(t)}_{\infty})$$
$$A = \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Spec}(k[t])^{(1)}} \operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{k(t)}_{\mathfrak{p}}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}})\right)$$

and c the map which is induced by the local-global map (7.29) restricted to

$$\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(k(t)) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}} \prod_{\mathfrak{p} \in \operatorname{Spec}(k[t])^{(1)}} \operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})\right).$$

Then, by Corollary 7.11 and [S2, X, Corollary of Proposition 6] (which follows from the inflation restriction sequence),

$$\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in\operatorname{Spec}\,(k[t])^{(1)}}\operatorname{Ker}\left(\operatorname{Br}(\widetilde{k(t)}_{\mathfrak{p}})\stackrel{\operatorname{Res}}{\to}\operatorname{Br}(k(t)_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})\right)$$
$$=\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in\operatorname{Spec}\,(k[t])^{(1)}}\operatorname{H}^{2}(k(t)_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}}/\widetilde{k(t)}_{\mathfrak{p}},(k(t)_{\overline{\mathfrak{p}}})^{*})$$
$$=\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in\operatorname{Spec}\,(k[t])^{(1)}}\operatorname{Br}(\kappa(\mathfrak{p}))\oplus\prod_{\mathfrak{p}\in\operatorname{Spec}\,(k[t])^{(1)}}X(G_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}).$$

Note that $k(t)_{\bar{\mathfrak{p}}}$ is the maximal unramified extension of $k(t)_{\mathfrak{p}}$. Therefore by Proposition 7.31, $\operatorname{Ker}(a \circ c) \subset \operatorname{Br}(k[t])$. Moreover, by Proposition 7.26, $b \circ c \circ i$ is injective. Therefore, Theorem 7.27 follows from Lemma 7.24.

Remark 7.30. If k is perfect, it is well-known fact that the sequence

(7.31)
$$0 \to \operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_k) \to \operatorname{Br}(k(x)) \to \bigoplus_{\mathfrak{p} \in \mathbb{P}^{1(1)}_k} X(G_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})})$$

is exact. But it is unknown fact whether (7.31) is exact. The sequence (7.20) is exact in Corollary 7.19, but the sequence (7.31) is not exact in the case where k is not perfect as follows.

It is known that k is perfect if and only if $\operatorname{Br}(k) = \operatorname{Br}(k[x])$ (cf, [A-G, p.389, Theorem 7.5]). So $\operatorname{Br}(k[x]) \neq 0$ in the case where k is the separable closure of an imperfect field and $\operatorname{Br}(k(x)) \neq 0$ because $\operatorname{Br}(k[x]) \subset \operatorname{Br}(k(x))$. On the other hand, $X(G_{\kappa(\mathfrak{p})}) = \{1\}$ and $\operatorname{Br}(\mathbb{P}^1_k) = \operatorname{Br}(k) = \{0\}$. So the sequence (7.31) is not exact.

References

- [A-G] M. Auslander and O. Goldman, The Brauer group of a commutative ring, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc 97 (1960), 367–409.
- [EGA] A. GROTHENDIECK, Éléments de géométrie algébrique IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. II. (French), Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. No. 24, 1965
- [G] A. GROTHENDIECK, Le group de Brauer.III. Examples et compléments. (French) Dix Exposés sur la Cohomologie des Schémas. 88–188, North-Holland, Amsterdam, Masson, Paris, 1968.
- [Go] O. GABBER, Some theorems on Azumaya algebras, The Brauer group (Sem., Les Plans-sur-Bex, 1980), 129–209, Lecture Notes in Math. 844, Springer, Berlin, 1981.
- [H] RAYMOND T. HOOBLER, A cohomological interpretation of Brauer groups of rings, Pacific J. Math. (1) 86 (1980), 89–92.
- [Ha] GÜNTER. HARDER, Halbeinfache Gruppenschemata über vollständigen Kurven, Invent. Math. 6 (1968), 107–149.
- [K] K. KATO, A generalization of local class field theory by using K-groups II, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sec. IA Math. 27 (1980), 603–683.
- [K-K] K. KATO AND T. KUZUMAKI, The dimension of fields and algebraic K-Theory, J. Number Theory **24** (1986), 229–244.
- [K-K-S] K. KATO, N. KUROKAWA AND T. SAITO, Number theory 1, Fermat's dream. Translated from the 1996 Japanese original by M.Kuwata, Transl. Math. Monogr. 186, Iwanami Series in Modern Mathematics, AMS, Providence, RI, 2000.
- [M] H. MATSUMURA, Commutative ring theory, Translated from the Japanese by M. Reid. Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics, 8. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1986.
- [Me] J. MILNE, *Étale cohomology*, Princeton Math. Ser. 33, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1980.

- [N-S-W] J. NEUKIRCH, A. SCHMIDT AND K. WINGBERG, *Cohomology of number fields*, 2nd ed, Grundlehren Math. Wiss. 323, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2008.
- [S1] J-P. SERRE, Galois cohomology, Springer Monogr. Math., Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2002.
- [S2] J-P. SERRE, Local fields, Grad. Texts in Math. 67, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1979.
- [W] C. A. WEIBEL, An introduction to homological algebra, Cambridge Stud. Adr. Math. 38, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.
- [YS] S. YUAN, On the Brauer groups of local fields, Ann. of Math. (2) 82 (1965), 434–444.

TOHOKU MATHEMATICAL PUBLICATIONS

- No.1 Hitoshi Furuhata: Isometric pluriharmonic immersions of Kähler manifolds into semi-Euclidean spaces, 1995.
- No.2 Tomokuni Takahashi: Certain algebraic surfaces of general type with irregularity one and their canonical mappings, 1996.
- No.3 Takeshi Ikeda: Coset constructions of conformal blocks, 1996.
- No.4 Masami Fujimori: Integral and rational points on algebraic curves of certain types and their Jacobian varieties over number fields, 1997.
- No.5 Hisatoshi Ikai: Some prehomogeneous representations defined by cubic forms, 1997.
- No.6 Setsuro Fujiié: Solutions ramifiées des problèmes de Cauchy caractéristiques et fonctions hypergéométriques à deux variables, 1997.
- No.7 Miho Tanigaki: Saturation of the approximation by spectral decompositions associated with the Schrödinger operator, 1998.
- No.8 Y. Nishiura, I. Takagi and E. Yanagida: Proceedings of the International Conference on Asymptotics in Nonlinear Diffusive Systems — towards the Understanding of Singularities in Dissipative Structures —, 1998.
- No.9 Hideaki Izumi: Non-commutative L^p -spaces constructed by the complex interpolation method, 1998.
- No.10 Youngho Jang: Non-Archimedean quantum mechanics, 1998.
- No.11 Kazuhiro Horihata: The evolution of harmonic maps, 1999.
- No.12 Tatsuya Tate: Asymptotic behavior of eigenfunctions and eigenvalues for ergodic and periodic systems, 1999.
- No.13 Kazuya Matsumi: Arithmetic of three-dimensional complete regular local rings of positive characteristics, 1999.
- No.14 Tetsuya Taniguchi: Non-isotropic harmonic tori in complex projective spaces and configurations of points on Riemann surfaces, 1999.
- No.15 Taishi Shimoda: Hypoellipticity of second order differential operators with sign-changing principal symbols, 2000.
- No.16 Tatsuo Konno: On the infinitesimal isometries of fiber bundles, 2000.
- No.17 Takeshi Yamazaki: Model-theoretic studies on subsystems of second order arithmetic, 2000.

- No.18 Daishi Watabe: Dirichlet problem at infinity for harmonic maps, 2000.
- No.19 Tetsuya Kikuchi: Studies on commuting difference systems arising from solvable lattice models, 2000.
- No.20 Seiki Nishikawa: Proceedings of the Fifth Pacific Rim Geometry Conference, 2001.
- No.21 Mizuho Ishizaka: Monodromies of hyperelliptic families of genus three curves, 2001.
- No.22 Keisuke Ueno: Constructions of harmonic maps between Hadamard manifolds, 2001.
- No.23 Hiroshi Sato: Studies on toric Fano varieties, 2002.
- No.24 Hiroyuki Kamada: Self-dual Kähler metrics of neutral signature on complex surfaces, 2002.
- No.25 Reika Fukuizumi: Stability and instability of standing waves for nonlinear Schrödinger equations, 2003.
- No.26 Tôru Nakajima: Stability and singularities of harmonic maps into spheres, 2003.
- No.27 Yasutsugu Fujita: Torsion of elliptic curves over number fields, 2003.
- No.28 Shin-ichi Ohta: Harmonic maps and totally geodesic maps between metric spaces, 2004.
- No.29 Satoshi Ishiwata: Geometric and analytic properties in the behavior of random walks on nilpotent covering graphs, 2004.
- No.30 Soondug Kim: Computing in the Jacobian of a C_{34} curve, 2004.
- No.31 Mitsuko Onodera: Study of rigidity problems for $C_{2\pi}$ -manifolds, 2006.
- No.32 Shuji Yoshikawa: Global solutions for shape memory alloy systems, 2007.
- No.33 Wakako Obata: Homogeneous Kähler Einstein manifolds of nonpositive curvature operator, 2007.
- No.34 Keita Yokoyama: Standard and Non-standard Analysis in Second Order Arithmetic, 2009.
- No.35 Reiko Miyaoka: Su Buging Memorial Lectures No. 1, 2011.
- No.36 Makoto Sakagaito: On the Hasse principle for the Brauer group of a purely transcendental extension field in one variable over an arbitrary field, 2012.

Tohoku Mathematical Publications

Mathematical Institute Tohoku University Sendai 980-8578, Japan